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lIn mar vosys 2011.1 was microcosm of the rjs.ks and opportun.n

ties that characterize the n.w normal The renewed confide.nce

that se.emed to he emerging at the beginning of th.e yea.r was soon

disrupted by the trayedy of nat.ural disa.ste.r in Japan ge.opoljtcal

turmoil int.he Middle Ea.st increase.d discord in t.he US government

and deepening concern over the credit posjtlon ofseveral Eu.ropean

states Yet as quicidy as these events unfolded signs of stability

appeared onc.e again when the year drew to close

As challenging as these market conditions are for companies they

bring to high re.iief the critical and pervasive n..ee.d for executives

to improve decisionmaking agility and operating flexibility At

The Corporate Executive Boa.rdwe dedicate ourseive.s to the support

of these objectives Our aim is to drive corporate performance by

providing tools and resources to help companies accomplish three

missiomcriticai tasks acquiring and cultivating talent identifying

and deploying effective risk manrgement stra.tegies a.nd driving

growth through innovations in core operating processe.s

T11F is clarity of purpose cont.nues to se.rve us well in such dynamic

e.nv iroa.ment We accomplished several Inportant ohjec.tives in 2011

that 11 a.m please.d to highlight in this letter We achieved healthy

topdine growth while del iveringour profitability commitments and

malntainlng strong fina.nciai profile We continued to e.xecute our

m.ultifaceted growth strategy by focusing on core set of operao

ing prIorities And our global com.mitme.nt to servicenot only for

our members hut for our communite.s-renianed highly visible

priority for our e.mpioyees

Tho

Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer



Looking ahead to 2012 we are well positioned to continue this

pursuit of healthy sustainable growth Our year-end financial

indicators certainly point to continued progress More importantly

by combining uniquely valuable data tools and insights with high-

impact personal engagement we are helping more members drive

higher levels of performance than ever before

2011 Results
Our 2011 results reflect continued progress against our three-

pronged growth strategy

First we expand relationships with existing customers This is our

largest and most scalable growth opportunity overtime as we work

to connect more of our resources to the 5700-plus companies in

our network Our continued 100% wallet retention rate reflects our

success in maintaining these relationships

Second we add new customers Our teams turned in very strong

performance on this front in 2011 as we added nearly 500 new

customersa 9% increase for the year While we are pleased with

that progress our sights remain set on engaging the more than

15000 companies across the globe that have yet to initiate rela

tionship with us

Third we develop new products and services Launching renew

able and scalable offerings that target uncovered needs in our key

buying centers requires near-term investment but it provides plat

forms for future growth and helps strengthen relationships with

member companies We put several compelling new products in the

market last year and we were particularly pleased with the robust

growth of our Leadership Academies platform which complements

our analytic and best practice assets

Efforts in these three areas led to improved sales bookings and

allowed us to produce solid top-line growth in 2011 Contract Value

increased by 11.7% to $499.4 million and revenues from continuing

operations grew by 12.1% to $484.7 million We kept our focus on

profitable growthas evidenced by an Adjusted EBITDA Margin of

23.2%even as we increased sales capacity enhanced our interna

tional platform and invested in product development activities As

result we also grew our bottom line as diluted earnings per share

from continuing operations increased 10.6% to $1.67 for the year
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Our business model continued to generate solid cash flows from

operations which increased 17.9% to $100.3 million in 2011 We

returned cash to shareholders through both regular dividends and

share repurchases and we also maintained sound financial position

as evidenced by our healthy cash balance

Annual Revenue

In Mi/lions of US Dollars

Adjusted EBITDA Margin1

$550.2

$4847

fi
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

26.8%

Adjusted Net Income1

In Millions of US Dollars

$82.0

ftj6l$574

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Non-GAAP Earnings

per Diluted Share1

$2.21
$209

flJjl.5167

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Adjusted presentations are not prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles GAAP See page 21 for reconciliation of GAAP to adjusted presentations

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
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Key 2011 Accomplishments
These strong financial results were made possible by our

continued focus on four core operating priorities

Priority Creating must have data

and insights

In 2011 our teams produced outstanding content across all of our

practice areas including insights into the demands on leaders in

newly global companies the technology and people implications

of data abundance and the influence that the professionalization

of purchasing has had on business-to-business sales

Priority Buiding brand strength through

member impact

Last yeal we invested in new sales teams major upgrade in train

ing and development for our commercial organization and the

CEB brand The end result was the highest-ever usage levels by our

members and notable increase in the amount of tier one media

coverage of the Company

One related exciting highlight of 2011 was the publication of the

book The Challenger Sale Based on insights drawn from our rich

data on the drivers of customer loyalty and salesperson effective

ness the book helped extend our work and brand to the broader

business community and it was positioned at the center of major

multichannel communications effort that drove unprecedented

engagement with our content across major social mediaplatforms
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To maximize returns we intensively target and cultivate those

geographic regions that have the highest concentration of large

corporations While there are nearly 200 members of the United

Nations there are only 15 mark.ets with more than 2t large

cap compames and only markets with niore than 50 of these

institutions

We focused our i.nvestment in several key ma..rkets in 2.011 most

notahv itli the expansion of our presence in Germany as we

opened Frankfurtofhce and acquired 1iamburgbased Baumgartner

Partner Our .Asim.Pacific operations also continued to scale and

we took steps to broaden our product portfolio in the region

We further expanded our Leadership Academies platfhrm with

tiew services for finance and infhrmation technoloz professionals

These offerings are consistentwithour product development philom

ophy as they target our most important buying centers and build

off of our unique analytics and content We also target opportunn

ties to improve large dollar decisions especially if we can provide

strong technology links that enhance the effectiveness of member

work flows
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Prioritiesfor the Year Ahead
As we look across 2012 we see countless opportunities to serve our

member companies as they seek to gain competitive advantage in

volatile market

We are privileged to work with more than 5700 companies across

the world giving us truly unique vantage point from which to

identify executive needs In the aggregate we see that corporate

expectations have modestly brightened but are still tinged by real

caution Companies are pushing hard for continued productivity

gains to generate the capital and profit flexibility for growth invest

ments At the same time companies are remaining highly sensitive

to their ability to manage significant risk events We believe that

our resources are particularly valuable in this environment where

optimizing returns from talent managing risk and driving innova

tion are top corporate priorities

Against this backdrop we will continue to use our four core operat

ing priorities to guide our efforts to deliver impact to our member

companies

We will create must have data and insights by applying

our unique research methodology to the large datasets we

produce and obtain

We will build brand strength through member impact by

leveraging targeted service strategies and amplifying the CEB

brand and message architecture

We will globalize our business through select broadening

of our product portfolio and continued penetration of

international points of sale

We will deliver innovative products and services by

identifying new member decisions and work flows to support
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Of course none of these aspirations are possible without the contin

ued commitment of our CEB colleagues around the world We

offer an Employment Value Proposition that enables us to attract

develop and retain an ever-strengthening base of top talent It is

privilege to work with group of people so relentlessly focused on

our mission By treating the milestones we reached in 2011 not as

end pointsbut as platform for continued progressthey drive

our growth and impact My pride in what they have accomplished

is exceeded only by my confidence in what the team can achieve

in 2012 and beyond
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For Human Resources Executives

Working with CLC HR has

saved us time effort and

money through their guidance

on the highest-return areas

to prioritize for improving our

talent management activities

Their fact-based insights globally relevant

data and excellent advisory skills have helped

create excitement and focus across the global

HR leadership team and commitment from our

business leaders

Pernille Spiers-Lopez

Head of Global Human Resources

IKEA Group

Research and Advisory Services CLC Human Resources CLC Benefits CLC Compensation

CLC Learning and Development CLC Recruiting HR Leadership Council for Midsized

Companies Asia HR Executive Board

Project Solutions CLC Genesee CLC Pro HR Leadership Academy My Benefits Coach

Talent Advisor Leadership Academy

The corporate Leadership Council enables

HR executives and their teams to execute

efficiently benchmark performance against

best-in-class metrics and achieve critical

business objectives through successful

talent and functional strategies Leveraging

global best practices and data we provide

the insights and tools that enable business

leaders and managers to

improve their workforce

and drive the organizations

FAperformance
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For Finance and Strategy

Executives

Our Finance and Strategy offerings deliver

unbiased guidance and proven tactics that

enable finance and strategy executives to

improve individual functional and corporate

performance

CEBs content has al/owed me

TRIMAs to reach external inputs and

CO ON Al ON benchmark with companies

which has tightened our strategic

direction better aligned

resources and al/owed for

continued talent pool improvement For the past

three years we have used CEBs business alignment

tool to baseline performance drive reallocation of

resources and improve service levels across Finance

HR Legal and IT Howeve0 the area of expertise that

stands out to me is CEBs assistance in helping us

develop our best analyst day

Mark Zeffiro

CFO

TriMas Corporation

Corporate Finance Research and Advisory Services CFO Executive Board Treasury Leadership

Roundtable Controllers Leadership Roundtable Investor Relations Roundtable Tax

Director Roundtable Intelligent Growth Suite Finance Leadership ExchangeElite Finance

Leadership Exchange for Midsized Companies Project Solutions Finance Leadership Academy

Corporate Services Research and Advisory Services Operations Leadership Exchange

Procurement Strategy Council Shared Services Roundtable Real Estate Executive Board

Project Solutions PSC Solutions

Corporate Strategy Research and Advisory Services Corporate Strategy Board Research

Technology Executive Council

12 2011 Annual Report



For Sales Marketing and

Communications Executives

Our Sales Marketing and Communications

offerings yield proprietary insights that

upend conventional wisdom and change

the way executives address long-standing

and emerging business challenges With our

guidance and tools B2B and B2C clients drive

excellence in their organization

The Sales Executive Councils

Henkel
work is thought provoking and

has given our sales organization

competitive advantage We

have implemented critical ideas

from the Council on topics

from CRM compliance to sales coaching Their

work is relevant challenges the conventional and

continuously inspires us

Tom Meek

VP Sales

Henkel Industrial Adhesives North America

Sales and Marketing Research and Advisory Services Marketing Leadership Council

Sales Executive Council Market Research Executive Board Marketing Leadership

Roundtable for Midsized Companies Sales Leadership Roundtable for Midsized

Companies Enterprise Council on Small Business Iconoculture

Project Solutions Marketing Excellence Survey SEC Solutions

Communications and Service Research and Advisory Services Communications Executive

Council Customer Contact Council
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For Corporate Integrity Functions

Our Corporate Integrity offerings equip senior

executives and their teams to optimize the

relationships among employee behaviors

enterprise risk and shareholder value

Leaders in legal compliance audit and risk

management apply our data-driven insights

practical tools and advice to effectively

manage risk ensure compliance and boost

corporate performance

The General Counsel Roundtable

has given us excellent support

in the area of outside counsel

managementby presenting

at our global legal department

conference participating in

workshops and providing us with number of very

helpful tools This was instrumental in reducing our

total outside legal cost by more than 25% while

also decreasing inside legal costs

Hans Peter Frick

Group General Counsel

Nestle S.A

Research and Advisory Services General Counsel Roundtable Audit Director Roundtable

Compliance and Ethics Leadership Council Risk Integration Strategy Council Corporate Legal

Exchange for Midsized Companies

Project Solutions RiskClarity Corporate Integrity Service Legal Leadership Academy
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For Information Technology

Executives

but better business leaders

find the Applications Executive

Council the best peer group

interaction have giving me real

insights into what others are

doing their current issues and

the ways others are tackling

these common issues The case studies presented

by the AEC always offer practical advice and

guidance on how to implement changes to your

own organization Knowing that these ideas have

been successful and having reference points to

follow up on the ideas really help with the practical

imp/em tat/on

Mike Croucher

Head of IT Architecture and Delivery

British Airways PLC

Research and Advisory Services ClO Executive Board Applications Executive Council

Enterprise Architecture Executive Council Information Risk Executive Council Infrastructure

Executive Council PMO Executive Council IT Leadership Exchange for Midsized Companies

IT Performance Benchmarking

Project Solutions IT Business Leadership Academy IT Roadmap Builder

Our Information Technology offerings identify

the best economic solutions to challenging

functional and IT management problems

facing CIOs and senior IT executives Our

solutions are vendor independent and

sourced from our vast executive network

that spans the C-suite Peer informed and

immediately actionable

these solutions help our

members elevate corporate

performance by becoming
BRITISH AIRWAYS

not just better IT managers
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For Financial Services Executives

Our Financial Services offerings provide

peer-vetted strategic guidance to global

network of senior executives at the worlds

leading financial services organizations and

their technical and service partners Through

our best practice research analyst coverage

and advisory support our services allow

executives to address common challenges

shaping the industry

challenges ranging from

product innovation to sales

and marketing to technology

and operations

Michael Pagano

Executive Vice President Private Client Services

City National Bank

Business Line Leaders Council on Financial Competition Business Banking Board The VIP

Forum Retirement Services Roundtable Operations Council

Product Management Technology and Operations Executives TowerGroup Retail Banking

and Cards TowerGroup Commercial Banking and Payments TowerGroup Wealth

Management TowerGroup Capital Markets TowerGroup insurance

There is good return on time

investment in the Executive

CI1YNAT1ONAIBANK Circle VIP Forum which

increases as we get better

acquainted and discussions get

more direct Looking forward

there are important issues facing our industry

we may be able to positively impact together

have appreciated the professionalism pace and

discussions

201 Annual Report



For Government Leaders

Our Government offerings help agency

leadership and their teams drive

organizational performance and work more

efficiently and confidently More than 200

government departments and agencies

across the globe leverage CEBs practical

insights peer benchmarks and decision and

diagnostic tools which are created from

proven best practices we

identify across the public

and private sectors
All of us as members of the

federal community have to guard

against becoming insular CLC is

important because it gives us

sense of where innovative things

are happening and where there

may be solutions that jump-start innovations we

want to make at our agency Having the communities

of interest and practice through CLC and having the

ability to tap into the best thinking allows us to be

lot more effective and evolving as an organization

than we might be otherwisa

Dr Reginald Wells

Deputy Commissioner and Chief Human

Capital Officer

Social Security Administration

Research and Advisory Services Finance and Strategy Information Technology Marketing

and Communications Human Resources Legal and Compliance

1111111
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data The selected financial data presented below has

been derived from our consolidated financial statements which have been audited by our independent registered public

accounting firm You should read the selected financial data presented below in conjunction with our consolidated fi

nancial statements the notes to our consolidated financial statements and Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

In Thousands Except Per-Share Amounts

Consolidated Statements of Income Data

Revenues 484663 432431 436562 550164 529617

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 167258 153283 143456 177O52 182123

Member relations and marketing 142324 121.239 123331 157645 147927

General and administrative 61668 56896 56371 72622 71507

Depreciation and amortization 16928 18039 19533 17077 13795

Costs associated with exit activities 11518

Restructuring costs 8568 8006

Total costs and expenses 388178 349457 362777 432402 415352

Operating profit 96485 82974 73785 117762 114265

Other expense income net 178 3140 6246 5438 16066

Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 96307 86114 80031 112324 130331

Provision for income taxes 38860 34015 30197 45420 48336

Income from continuing operations 57447 52099 49834 66904 81995

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax 4792 11736 4205 22107 1408
Net income 52655 40363 45629 44797 80587

Basic earnings loss per share 1.55 1.18 1.34 1.31 2.20

Continuing operations 1.69 1.52 1.46 1.96 2.24

Discontinued operations 0.14 0.34 0.12 0.65 0.04

Diluted earnings loss per share 1.53 1.17 1.33 1.30 2.17

Continuing operations 1.67 1.51 1.45 1.95 2.21

Discontinued operations 0.14 0.34 0.12 0.65 0.04

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 34071 34256 34111 34205 36666

Diluted 34419 34553 34293 34329 37159

Cash dividends declared per common share 0.60 0.44 0.74 1.76 1.60

December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

In Thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 143945 123462 76210 76103 144356

Total assets 533692 510149 423195 446192 544772

Deferred revenues 284935 251200 222053 264253 323395

Total stockholders equity 79564 82816 50277 22609 67547

December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Other Operating Data Unaudited
Contract Value in thousands 499424 447051 393737 487107 526386

Member institutions 5738 5271 4812 5114 4711

Contract Value per member institution 87040 84808 81824 95250 111736

Wallet retention rate 100% 101% 73% 83% 101%
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Loss from discontinued operations for all periods presented includes the operating results for Toolbox.com which

was sold in December 2011

For the
year

then ended Contract Value Contract Value is defined as the aggregate annualized revenues attrib

uted to all agreements in effect at given date without regard to the remaining duration of any such agreement

We define Wallet retention rate at the end of year as the total current year Contract Value from prior year mem
bers as percentage of the total prior year Contract Value

Non GAAP Financial Measures

The tables below include financial measures of Adjusted EBITDA Adjusted net income and Non-GAAP diluted earn

ings per share which are non- GAAP financial measures provided as complement to the results provided in accor

dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America GAAP The term Adjusted

EBITDA refers to financial measure that we define as net income before loss from discontinued operations net of

provision for income taxes interest income net depreciation and amortization provision for income taxes costs as

sociated with exit activities restructuring costs and gain on acquisition The term Adjusted net income refers to net

income before loss from discontinued operations net of provision for income taxes and excludes the after tax effects

of costs associated with exit activities restructuring costs and gain on acquisition Non-GAAP diluted earnings per

share refers to diluted earnings per share before the per share effect of loss from discontinued operations net of provi

sion for income taxes and excludes the after tax per share effects of costs associated with exit activities restructuring

costs and gain on acquisition

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA Adjusted net income and Non- GAAP diluted earnings per share are relevant and

useful supplemental information for our investors We use these non- GAAP financial measures for internal budgeting

and other managerial purposes when publicly providing the Companys business outlook and as measurement for

potential acquisitions limitation associated with Adjusted EBITDA is that it does not reflect the periodic costs of cer

tain capitalized tangible and intangible assets used in generating revenues in our business Management evaluates the

costs of such tangible and intangible assets through other financial measures such as capital expenditures Management

compensates for these limitations by also relying on the comparable GAAP financial measure of Operating profit which

includes depreciation and amortization

These non-GAAP measures may be considered in addition to results prepared in accordance with GAAP but they

should not be considered substitute foi or superior to GAAP results We intend to continue to provide these non
GAAP financial measures as part of our future earnings discussions and therefore the inclusion of these non- GAAP
financial measures will provide consistency in our financial reporting
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reconciliation of these non- GAAP measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measure is provided below

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

In Thousands Except Per-Share Amounts

Adjusted EBITDA

Net income 52655 40363 45629 44797 80587

Loss from discontinued operations net of provision for income taxes 4792 11736 4205 22107 1408

Income from continuing operations 57447 52099 49834 66904 81995

Interest income net 596 1526 1787 4268 14937

Depreciation and amortization 16928 18039 19533 17077 13795

Provision for income taxes 38860 34015 30197 45420 48336

Costs associated with exit activities 11518

Restructuring costs 8568 8006

Gain on acquisition 680

Adjusted EBITDA 112639 102627 117183 133139 129189

Adjusted EBITDA margin 23.2% 23.7% 26.8% 24.2% 24.4%

Adjusted net income

Net income 52655 40363 45629 44797 80587

Loss from discontinued operations net of provision for income taxes 4792 11736 4205 22107 1408

Income from continuing operations 57447 52099 49834 66904 81995

Costs associated with exit activities 7141

Restructuring costs 5312 4804

Gain on acquisition 422

Adjusted net income 57447 52099 61865 71708 81995

Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share

Earnings per diluted share 1.53 1.17 1.33 1.30 2.17

Loss from discontinued operations net of provision for income taxes 0.14 0.34 0.12 0.65 0.04

Earnings per diluted share from continuing operations 1.67 1.51 1.45 1.95 2.21

Costs associated with exit activities 0.20

Restructuring costs 0.16 0.14

Gain on acquisition 0.01

Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share 1.67 1.51 1.80 2.09 2.21
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations should be read

in conjunction with Selected Financial Data and our annual audited consolidated financial statements and related notes

thereto The following discussion includes forward-looking statements that involve certain risks and uncertainties For

additional information regarding forward-looking statements and risk factors see Forward-Looking Statements

In the accompanying analysis of financial information we sometimes use information derived from consolidated fi

nancial information but not presented in our financial statements prepared in accordance with US generally accepted

accounting principles GAAP Certain of these data are considered non- GAAP financial measures For such mea

sures we have provided supplemental explanations and reconciliations in Selected Financial Data under the heading

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

On December 30 2011 we sold substantially all of the assets of Toolbox.com Accordingly its operating results have

been accounted for as discontinued operations Discussions of matters in our consolidated financial statements relate

to continuing operations unless otherwise indicated

Operating results for individual operating segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate disclosure

thus we have one reportable segment

Overview

In 2011 our efforts remain focused on our four key operating priorities create must have data and insights build

brand strength through member impact globalize the business and deliver innovative products and services We main

tain strong balance sheet and the gains we experienced in bookings Contract Value and revenues have positioned us

to sustain growth and progress in 2012 We continue to focus on three opportunities for growth in our business Our

largest and most scalable opportunity is to grow relationships with existing customers Second acquiring new member

companies including in key international markets and the middle market as we added over 500 new companies in

2011 Finally leveraging the member platform to launch new products and services

We have seen and expect to continue to see encouraging returns from focus on our operating priorities and from sound

execution by our teams however the direction and pace of the global recovery remains uncertain While we are find

ing that companies are increasingly focusing on forward-looking priorities areas where we can and do add significant

value we are seeing companies continue to control expenditures amid ongoing uncertainty Nevertheless by linking

research and data to urgent member work and decisions our teams are driving positive progress on sales and renewal

outcomes

Contract Value was $499.4 million at December 31 2011 an increase of 11.7% compared to $447.1 million at December

31 2010 The increase was result of increased sales to new and existing members and price increases Contract Value

per member institution increased 2.6% at December 31 2011 to $87040 from $84808 at December 31 2010

Net income was $52.7 million or $1.53 per diluted share in 2011 compared to $40.4 million or $1.17 per diluted share

in 2010 Income from continuing operations was $57.4 million or $1.67 per diluted share in 2011 compared to $52.1 mil

lion or $1.51 per diluted share in 2010 Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin was $112.6 million and 23.2%

respectively in 2011 compared to $102.6 million and 23.7% respectively in 2010 Our 2011 results reflect both contin

ued improvements in new business and renewal bookings as the global economy began to stabilize and our strategy to

pursue growth opportunities by increasing commercial capacity enhancing our international platform and investing

in product development

We anticipate improving sales and renewal activity throughout 2012 assuming reasonably stable macroeconomic

environment However we expect margins to remain near current levels as the scale benefits from continued revenue

growth on the existing platform arid the disposition of Toolbox.com will be offset by continued investments in commer
cial capacity and product development as well as the impact of the Valtera acquisition We believe that the favorable

characteristics of our businessa renewable revenue stream fast cash conversion cycle scalable cost structure and

low capital intensityremain intact
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

During the preparation of our consolidated financial statements we are required to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses fair value measures and related disclo

sures of assets and liabilities Accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section do not reflect compre

hensive list of all of our accounting policies but are those that we consider to be the most critical to an understanding

of our financial statements because they involve significant judgments and uncertainties As result they are subject

to an inherent degree of uncertainty Many of these estimates include determining fair value All of these estimates re

flect our best judgment about current and for some estimates future economic and market conditions and their effects

based on information available as of the date of preparation of such financial statements If these conditions change

from those expected it is reasonably possible that the judgments and estimates that were made in connection with the

preparation of our financial statements could change which may result in future impairments of goodwill intangible

and long-lived assets establishment of valuation allowances on deferred tax assets and increased tax liabilities among

other effects For more detailed discussion of the application of these and other accounting policies see Note to our

consolidated financial statements Our critical accounting policies include

Revenue recognition

We generate the majority of our revenues from three primary service offerings executive memberships performance

analytics and leadership academies Executive memberships generally contain multiple deliverables which are deter

mined based on the availability and delivery method of the services and may include on-line best practices research

and insights peer benchmarks decision and diagnostics tools advisory support and live and on-line learning events

Performance analytics deliver data and analytical insight to drive improved performance of executives and their teams

and are accounted for as service revenues Leadership academies generally contain multiple deliverables and provide

access to training and development services that may include skill diagnostic reports learning portal access class

room-based development sessions Webinars and virtual office hours with faculty

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU
2009-13 Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangements ASU 2009-13 that is effective for revenue arrangements

entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 This guidance eliminates the

residual method under previous guidance and replaces it with the relative selling price method when allocating rev

enue in multiple deliverable arrangement We adopted ASU 2009-13 prospectively on January 2011

When service offerings include multiple deliverables that qualify as separate units of accounting we allocate arrange

ment consideration at the inception of the contract period to all deliverables based on the relative selling price method

in accordance with the selling price hierarchy which includes vendor specific objective evidence VSOE if available

third-party evidence TPE if VSOE is not available or best estimate of selling price BESP if neither VSOE nor

TPE is available

VSOE We determine VSOE based on established pricing and discounting practices for the specific service

when sold separately In determining VSOE we require that substantial majority of the selling prices for these

services fall within reasonably narrow pricing range We limit our assessment of VSOE for each element to

either the price charged when the same element is sold separately or the price established by management

having the relevant authority to do so for an element not yet sold separately

TPE When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in multiple element arrangements we apply judg

ment with respect to whether selling price can be established based on TPE TPE is determined based on

competitor prices for similar services when sold separately Generally our services contain significant level

of differentiation such that the comparable pricing of services with similar functionality cannot be obtained

Furthermore we are unable to reliably determine what similar competitors selling prices are for similar ser

vices on stand-alone basis As result we have not been able to establish selling price based on TPE

BESP When unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE BESP is used in our allocation of arrange

ment consideration The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact sale if the

product or service were sold on stand-alone basis BESP is determined for deliverables by considering mul

tiple factors including but not limited to prices charged for similar offerings market conditions competitive

landscape and pricing practices
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Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement the fee is fixed and determinable

services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned and collectability is reasonably as

sured Certain fees are billed on an installment basis Customers generally may request refund of their fees which is

provided from the date of the refund request on pro-rata basis relative to the length of the remaining term under the

our service guarantee

Executive memberships In general the majority of the deliverables within our memberships are consistently

available throughout the membership period Revenues are generally recognized ratably over the term of the

related agreement which is typically 12 months Membership fees are billable and revenue recognition begins

when member agrees to the terms of the membership and the fees receivable and the related deferred rev

enue are recorded upon the commencement of the agreement or collection of fees if earlier In some instances

membership may include service that is available only once or on limited basis during the membership

period These services are separated from the remainder of the membership and arrangement consideration is

allocated based on VSOE if available or BESP The consideration allocated to services available only once or on

limited basis is recognized as revenue upon the earlier of the delivery of the service or the completion of the

contract period provided that all other criteria for recognition have been met The arrangement consideration

allocated to the remainder of the membership services continues to be recognized ratably

Performance analytics Revenues are generally recognized ratably from the date services begin which is pri

marily after the design of the service outputs through the completion of the services

Leadership academies Revenues are generally recognized as services are completed The service offering gen

erally includes one or more class-room based training or presentation events If more than one delivery date is

evident arrangement consideration is allocated on pro-rata basis and revenue is recognized on the delivery

date of each event

Agreements entered into between January 2011 and December 31 2011 and impacted by ASU 2009-13 have resulted

in lower operating results in 2011 than would have been reported under the previous guidance In 2011 revenues and

income from operations were lower by $3.6 million net income was lower by $2.2 million and basic and diluted earn

ings per share were lower by $0.06 than what would have been reported under the previous guidance

To lessen the impact of ASU 2009-13 and to better reflect member priorities and value we modified certain member

ships to remove or alter services that were available only once or on limited basis during the membershipperiod

These modifications were completed on or about March 31 2011 The modifications allow us to recognize revenue for

executive memberships ratably over the term of the related agreement for sales on or after April 2011 For member

ships that have not been modified we have and will continue to allocate arrangement consideration to all services For

services that are available only once or on limited basis revenues are recognized upon the earlier of the delivery of

the service or the completion of the contract period

Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting basis

and the tax basis of assets and liabilities These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax

rates and laws that will be in effect when such amounts are expected to reverse or be utilized The realization of de

ferred tax assets is contingent on the generation of future taxable income valuation allowance is provided to reduce

such deferred tax assets to amounts more likely than not to be ultimately realized Net deferred tax assets totaled $36.9

million and $61.6 million and included valuation allowance of $7.5 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

In determining the provision for income taxes we analyze various factors including projections of our annual earn

ings tax jurisdictions in which the earnings will be generated and the impact of state local and foreign income taxes

We file income tax returns in US federal state and foreign jurisdictions With few exceptions we are no longer subject

to US federal state and local tax examinations in major tax jurisdictions for periods prior to 2008

Goodwill and intangible assets

For acquisitions we record any excess purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired

as goodwill preliminary allocation of the purchase price to tangible and intangible net assets acquired is based on
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preliminary valuation and our estimates and assumptions may be subject to change Intangible assets consist primarily

of technology and member relationships Intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives of to 20 years

We test our goodwill for impairment annually on October or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

impairment may have occurred by comparing its fair value to its carrying value We have concluded that our reporting

units used to assess goodwill impairment are the same as our operating segments Impairment may result from among
other things deterioration in the performance of the acquired business adverse market conditions and variety of

other circumstances If we determine that impairment has occurred we record write-down of the carrying value as

an operating expense in the period the determination is made Although we believe goodwill is appropriately stated in

our consolidated financial statements changes in strategy or market conditions could significantly impact these judg

ments and require an adjustment to the recorded balance

The determination of the fair value of individual reporting units is based on the
average

of an income approach dis

counted cash flow method and market approach guideline company method These models require us to make

various judgmental estimates and assumptions about sales operating margins growth rates discount factors and valu

ation multiples Our discounted cash flow model is prepared by forecasting anticipated cash flows over an initial five

year period plus terminal value discounted to their present value using an appropriate rate of return The guideline

company method is prepared by applying revenue and EBITDA multiples of certain publicly traded companies to the

reporting unit financial results Our estimates are based on our historical experience our current knowledge from our

commercial relationships and available external information about future trends

Long-lived assets including intangibles

Long-lived assets including intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circum

stances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable The test for recoverability is made using

an estimate of the undiscounted expected future cash flows and if required the impairment loss is measured as the

amount that the carrying value of the asset exceeds the assets fair value if the asset is not recoverable At December

31 2011 we have not identified any instances where the carrying values of our long-lived assets were not recoverable

Deferred incentive compensation

Direct incentive compensation paid to our employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships is

deferred and amortized over the term of the related memberships

Operating leases

We have non-cancelable operating lease agreements for our offices with original lease periods expiring between 2013

and 2028 We are committed to pay portion of the related operating expenses and real estate taxes under these lease

agreements We recognize rent expense under operating leases on straight-line basis over the non-cancelable term

of the lease including free-rent periods Lease incentives relating to allowances provided by landlords are amortized

over the term of the lease as reduction of rent expense We recognize sublease income on straight-line basis over the

term of the sublease including free rent periods and escalations as reduction of rent expense Costs associated with

acquiring subtenant including broker commissions and tenant allowances are amortized over the sublease term as

reduction of sublease income

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date of the share-based awards based on their fair value

and is recognized on straight-line basis over the vesting periods net of an estimated forfeiture rate The grant date

fair value of restricted stock units which are not entitled to receive dividends until vested is measured by reducing the

share price at that date by the present value of the dividends expected to be paid during the requisite vesting period

The grant date fair value of stock appreciation rights is calculated using lattice valuation model Determining the

fair value of share-based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions

including the term of the share-based awards risk-free interest rates over the vesting period expected dividend rates

the price volatility of our stock and estimated forfeiture rates of the awards Fair value and forfeiture rate estimates are

based on assumptions we believe to be reasonable Actual future results may differ from those estimates
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Results of Operations

We generate the majority of our revenues through the sale of memberships that provide access to our products and

services which are delivered through several channels Memberships which principally are annually renewable agree

ments are primarily payable by members at the beginning of the contract term Billings attributable to memberships

for our products and services initially are recorded as deferred revenues and then generally are recognized on ratable

basis over the membershipcontract term which typically is 12 months Most membershipagreements include service

guarantee by which member may request refund of its membership fee during the membership term Refunds are

provided on pro-rata basis relative to the remaining term of the membership

Our operating costs and expenses consist of the following

Cost of services which represents the costs associated with the production and delivery of our products and

services consisting of compensation including share-based compensation for research personnel in-house

faculty and product advisors the organization and delivery of membership meetings seminars and other

events ongoing product development costs production of published materials costs of developing and sup

porting our membership Web platform and digital delivery of products and services and associated support

services

Member relations and marketing which represents the costs of acquiring new members and the costs of ac

count management consisting of compensation including sales incentives and share-based compensation

travel and related expenses recruiting and training of personnel sales and marketing materials and associated

support services as well as the costs of maintaining our member relationship management software CRM
General and administrative which represents the costs associated with the corporate and administrative func

tions including human resources and recruiting finance and accounting legal management information sys

tems facilities management business development integration costs and other Costs include compensation

including share-based compensation third-party consulting and compliance expenses and associated support

services

Depreciation and amortization consisting of depreciation of our property and equipment including leasehold

improvements furniture fixtures and equipment capitalized software and website development costs and the

amortization of intangible assets

In September 2011 we acquired 100% of the stock of Baumgartner Partner GmbH Baumgartner In May 2010 we

acquired 100% of the stock of Iconoculture Inc Iconoculture In October 2009 we acquired 100% of the stock of

Tower Group Inc Tower Group Accordingly the consolidated statements of income include the operating results

from the dates of acquisition In addition we sold substantially all of the assets of Toolbox.com on December 30 2011

and thus have reported its operating results as discontinued operations for all periods presented

Years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Contract Value and Other Operating Data

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Contract Value in thousands 499424 447051 393737

Niember institutions 5738 5271 4812

Contract Value per member institution 87040 84808 81824

Wallet retention rate 100% 101% 73%

Contract Value increased 11.7% to $499.4 million at December 31 2011 from $447.1 million at December 31 2010 and

increased 13.5% in 2010 from $393.7 million at December 31 2009

In 2011 Contract Value increased $52.3 million primarily as result of increased sales to new and existing large corpo

rate members and price increases

In 2010 Contract Value increased $53.4 million due to improved cross-sales to existing large corporate members the

acquisition of Iconoculture and increased sales to middle market clients
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Revenues

1112011 revenues increased 12.1% to $484.7 million from $432.4 million in 2010 and decreased 0.9% in 2010 from $436.6

million in 2009

In 2011 revenues increased due to an increase in bookings to new and existing members and our ability to implement

price increases as well as the Baumgartner and Iconoculture acquisitions This increase is net of $3.6 million defer

ral from the adoption of Accounting Standards Update 2009-13 Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangements on

January 2011

In 2010 revenues were affected by the macro-economic environment as represented by the decrease in Contract Value

across 2009 and the first quarter of 2010 The lower booking volume in 2009 and the resulting decrease in deferred rev

enues at December 31 2009 resulted in lower revenues in 2010 The acquisition of Iconoculture in the second quarter

of 2010 accounted for approximately $8.8 million of our total 2010 revenues We also recognized full year of revenues

for Tower Group in 2010 versus only one quarter in 2009

Costs and expenses

Changes in compensation and related costs variable compensation share-based compensation third-party consulting

travel and related facilities costs deferred compensation additional costs from the businesses we acquired and the

impact of changes in the exchange rates of the US dollar to the British Pound all contributed to year-over-year varianc

es in costs and expenses These items are allocated to Cost of services Member relations and marketing and General

and administrative expenses We discuss these major components of costs and expenses on an aggregated basis below

Compensation and related costs including salaries payroll taxes and benefits increased $27.2 million in 2011

to $192.1 million from $164.9 million in 2010 and increased $2.0 million in 2010 from $162.9 million in 2009

The increase in 2011 was primarily due to headcount and salary increases as well as the Baumgartner and

Iconoculture acquisitions

Variable compensation consisting of sales commissions and annual bonuses increased $3.4 million in 2011 to

$54.2 million from $50.8 million in 2010 and increased $10.1 million in 2010 from $40.7 million in 2009 The

increase in 2011 was primarily due to $5.7 million increase in sales commission expense resulting from in

creased bookings in 2010 and 2011 partially offset by decrease in sales commission rates Additionally the es

timated payout of annual bonuses decreased $2.2 millionThe increase in 2010 was primarily due to an increase

in the payout of annual bonuses in 2010 compared to 2009

Share-based compensation costs increased $0.8 million in 2011 to $8.1 million from $7.3 million in 2010 and

decreased $3.4 million in 2010 from $10.7 million in 2009 The increase in 2011 was primarily due to an increase

in the total fair value of awards being amortized due to an increase in the fair value of awards granted in 2011

over the prior years The decrease in 2010 was the result of decrease in the total fair value of awards being

amortized primarily resulting from lower value for the 2010 grant and headcount reductions in 2009

Third-party consulting increased $0.1 million in 2011 to $20.7 million from $20.6 million in 2010 and increased

$3.8 million in 2010 from $16.8 million in 2009 The increases in 2011 and 2010 were primarily due to the

use of consultants for member-facing technology development and the implementation of operating systems

enhancements

Travel and related expense increased $4.3 million in 2011 to $22.7 million from $18.4 million in 2010 and in

creased $1.3 million in 2010 from $17.1 million in 2009 The increase in 2011 was primarily related to an increase

in sales related travel

Allocated facilities costs consisting primarily of rent operating expenses and real estate tax escalations de

creased $2.6 million in 2011 to $26.3 million from $28.9 million in 2010 and decreased $5.2 million in 2010 from

$34.1 million in 2009 The decreases are primarily due to the sublease of approximately 331000 square feet of

our corporate headquarters to third parties

Deferred compensation costs included in operating expenses decreased $2.0 million in 2011 to $0.5 million of

income in 2011 from $1.5 million of expense in 2010 and decreased $0.6 million in 2010 from $2.1 million of
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expense in 2009 Variances related to deferred compensation are the result of changes in the value of invest

ments in variable insurance products held in Rabbi Trust Operating expense variances resulting from chang

es in the fair value of deferred compensation costs are offset in Other expense income and have no impact on

Net income or earnings per share

Our operating expenses are impacted by currency fluctuations primarily in the value of the British Pound

compared to the US dollar The value of the British Pound versus the US dollar was approximately $0.05 lower

on average across 2011 compared to 2010 and approximately $0.02 lower on average across 2010 compared

to 2009 Costs incurred for foreign subsidiaries will fluctuate based on changes in foreign currency rates in ad

dition to other operational factors We enter into cash flow hedges for our UK subsidiary to mitigate foreign

currency risk which offsets portion of the impact foreign currency fluctuations have on costs and expenses

Cost of services

Cost of services increased 9.1% or $14.0 million to $167.3 million in 2011 from $153.3 million in 2010 and increased

6.9% or $9.8 million in 2010 from $143.5 million in 2009 The following table outlines the primary components of Cost

of services in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 of Revenues 2010 of Revenues 2009 of Revenues

Compensation and related 90424 18.7% 78570 18.2% 76697 17.6%

Variable compensation 15857 3.3% 17882 4.1% 11673 2.7%

Share-based compensation 3130 0.6% 1933 0.4% 4671 1.1%

Third-party consulting 12490 2.6% 13121 3.0% 7893 1.8%

Travel and related 9932 2.0% 8082 1.9% 7265 1.7%

Allocated facilities 10852 2.2% 12237 2.8% 13949 3.2%

Deferred compensation income expense 234 0.0% 767 0.2% 1091 0.2%

In 2011 the $11.9 million increase in compensation and related costs was primarily due to headcount increases relating

to investments in our product research and delivery teams The decrease in variable compensation of $2.0 million was

due to lower estimated annual bonuses Share-based compensation increased $1.2 million and third-party consulting

decreased $0.6 million for the reasons outlined above The $1.9 million increase in travel and related costs was due to

increased costs incurred in the delivery of advisory and research services The $1.4 million decrease in allocated facili

ties costs was primarily due to the sublease of portion of our headquarters as discussed above In addition costs as

sociated with the production and delivery of member meetings increased $1.2 million

In 2010 the $6.2 million increase in variable compensation was due to the higher payout of annual bonuses as dis

cussed above The $2.7 million decrease in share-based compensation was primarily due to the decrease in the total fair

value of awards vesting due to the 2009 restructuring and the total fair value of awards as discussed above The $5.2

million increase in third-party consulting was primarily due to operating systems development and enhancements

The $0.8 million increase in travel and related costs was due to increased costs incurred in the delivery of advisory and

research services The $1.7 million decrease in allocated facilities costs was primarily due to the sublease of portion

of our corporate headquarters

Cost of services as percentage of revenues was 34.5% in 2011 35.4% in 2010 and 32.9% in 2009 Cost of services as

percentage of revenues may fluctuate from year to year due to the timing of the completion and delivery of best prac
tices research studies the timing of executive education seminars the introduction of new membershipprograms and

the fixed nature of portion of the production costs of best practices research studies as these costs are not signifi

cantly affected by growth in the number of membership subscriptions Accordingly Cost of services as percentage of

revenues may not be indicative of future operating results However because Cost of services includes both fixed and

variable components in terms of both the amount and timing of expenses incurred we have some flexibility to manage

portion of these expenses in light of changing market conditions

Member relations and marketing

Member relations and marketing increased 17.4% or $21.1 million to $142.3 million in 2011 from $121.2 million in

2010 and decreased 1.7% or $2.1 millionin 2010 from $123.3 million in 2009 The following table outlines the primary
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components of Member relations and marketing in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 of Revenues 2010 of Revenues 2009 of Revenues

Compensation and related 70874 14.6% 57976 13.4% 58322 13.4%

Variable compensation 32359 6.7% 26158 6.0% 24262 5.6%

Share-based compensation 1642 0.3% 1156 0.3% 1324 0.3%

Third-party consulting 2442 0.5% 2400 0.6% 4397 1.0%

Travel and related 10901 2.2% 9288 2.1% 8812 2.0%

Allocated facilities 11701 2.4% 11789 2.7% 14468 3.3%

Deferred compensation income expense 108 O.0% 354 0.1% 503 0.1%

In 2011 the $12.9 million increase in compensation and related costs was primarily due to headcount increases relating

to additional capacity and support for our sales teams The $6.2 million increase in variable compensation was primar

ily due to higher bookings across 2010 and 2011 and higher sales incentive rates compared to prior years Travel and

related costs increased $1.6 million from higher sales team travel rates These increases were partially offset by $0.9

million decrease in advertising expense and $0.5 million decrease in deferred compensation expense

1112010 the $2.7 million decrease in allocated facilities costs was primarily due to our subleasing portion of our head

quarters as discussed above In addition third-party consulting decreased $2.0 millionprimarily due to the implemen

tation of our CRM system in 2009 which included non-recurring expenses The $0.3 million decrease in compensation

and related costs was the result of headcount reductions related to the restructuring plans in 2009 partially offset by

headcount increases related to the acquisitions of both Tower Group and Iconoculture These decreases were partially

offset by increases in variable compensation of $1.9 millionadvertising costs of $1.4 millionand travel and related costs

of $0.5 million

Member relations and marketing expense as percentage of revenues were 29.4% in 2011 28.0% in 2010 and 28.3% in

2009

General and administrative

General and administrative increased 8.4% or $4.8 million to $61.7 million in 2011 from $56.9 million in 2010 and in

creased 0.9% or $0.5 millionin 2010 from $56.4 million in 2009 The following table outlines the primary components

of General and administrative in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 of Revenues 2010 of Revenues 2009 of Revenues

Compensation and related 30815 6.4% 28261 6.5% 27877 6.4%

Variable compensation 5948 1.2% 6715 1.6% 4788 1.1%

Share-based compensation 3315 0.7% 4174 1.0% 4696 1.1%

Third-party consulting 5758 1.2% 5034 1.2% 4490 1.0%

Allocated facilities 3758 0.8% 4885 1.1% 5650 1.3%

Deferred compensation income expense 112 0.0% 370 0.1% 524 0.1%

In 2011 the $2.6 million increase in compensation and related costs was primarily due to headcount increases The

$0.8 million decrease in variable compensation was due to lower estimated annual bonuses Share-based compensation

expense decreased by $0.9 million due to the lower total value of awards being amortized for administrative personnel

than in prior years The $1.1 million decrease in allocated facilities costs was primarily due to the sublease of portion

of our headquarters as discussed above In addition in the first quarter of 2011 we recorded $1.7 million charge from

an adjustment to the fair value of the Iconoculture earnout liability and $1.3 million increase in legal and transaction

related fees

In 2010 the $1.9 million increase in variable compensation relates to an increase in annual bonus payouts The $0.8

million decrease in allocated facilities costs was result of the sublease of portion of our headquarters as discussed

above In addition employee placement fees increased $0.7 million and charitable contributions increased $0.6 million

These increases were offset by $1.3 million decrease in taxes primarily related to state property tax and potential sales

tax accruals and $1.1 million benefit from an adjustment to the fair value estimate of the Iconoculture earnout liability

General and administrative expense as percentage of revenues was 12.7% in 2011 13.2% in 2010 and 12.9% in 2009
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Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased 6.1% or $1.1 million to $16.9 million in 2011 from $18.0 million in 2010 and

decreased 7.7% or $1.5 millionin 2010 from $19.5 million in 2009

1112011 the decrease of $1.1 million was primarily due to lower depreciation as result of the completion of the depre
ciable lives of certain fixed assets In addition there was $0.2 million decrease in amortization

In 2010 the decrease of $1.5 million was primarily due to lower depreciation as result of the completion of deprecia

ble lives for assets purchased as part of the buildout of our headquarters and fixed assets and leasehold improvements

disposed of in the second quarter of 2009 as part of our costs associated with exit activities The decrease in deprecia

tion was partially offset by $1.0 million increase in amortization primarily due to the intangible assets of Iconoculture

Depreciation and amortization expense as percentage of revenues was 3.5% in 2011 4.2% in 2010 and 4.4% in 2009

Costs associated with exit activities

We did not incur any costs associated with exit activities in 2011 or 2010

In June 2009 we ceased using and entered into sublease agreement for portion of our headquarters In addition

we ceased using portion of two other facilities whereby we sublet portion of one facility and are attempting to sub

lease portion of the other facility We incurred total pre-tax charge of $11.5 million substantially all of which was

non-cash primarily related to the impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture fixtures and equipment at our

headquarters

These actions advanced our ongoing transition to an integrated account management model which reduced the need

for space in our headquarters and other existing facilities because we are locating sales and service staff closer to

members In addition these actions represented another step in our efforts to align operating expenses more closely

with our outlook in light of economic conditions and to redirect resources to areas with greater potential for future

growth

Restructuring costs

We did not incur any restructuring costs in 2011 or 2010

In October 2009 we acquired the stock of Tower Group As part of our integration plans we initiated workforce

reduction plan whereby approximately ten Tower Group employees were offered severance and related termination

benefits Restructuring costs associated with this action were $1.2 million

In the second quarter of 2009 we committed to separation plan the 2009 Plan initially offering additional ben

efits for employees electing to voluntarily separate for which approximately 155 employees submitted resignations

effective beginning July 24 2009 The 2009 Plan which has concluded was part of our continuing efforts to align

expenses more closely with our outlook and to accelerate the placement of resources in areas that we believe have

greater potential for future growth The 2009 Plan was not offered to executive officers critical staff and most sales

staff Pre-tax restructuring charges for the 2009 Plan were $7.8 million most of which was associated with severance

and related termination benefits The annualized pre-tax savings associated with these restructuring activities were

expected to be approximately $15 million

In the fourth quarter of 2008 we committed to plan of workforce reductions to restructure our business to align ex

penses more closely with our revenue outlook in light of continued economic turmoil in the US and global economy

and to redirect resources to areas that we believe have greater potential for future growth This restructuring in

cluded reduction of approximately 15% of our workforce realignment of products and services including consoli

dation or retirement of certain products to focus on five corporate decision centers and industries we serve and the

implementation of new integrated approach to prospect and member account management We recorded pre-tax

restructuring charge of $8.0 million for these actions in the fourth quarter of 2008 and $1.0 million in the first quarter

of 2009 most of which was associated with severance and related termination benefits

We do not expect to incur any significant additional costs under the plans
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Other expense income net

Other expense income net decreased in 2011 to expense of $0.2 million from income of $3.1 million in 2010 and

decreased in 2010 from income of $6.2 million in 2009 The table below details the components of other expense

income net

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Decrease increase in fair value of deferred compensation plan assets 456 1699 2721

Foreign currency translation loss gain 330 54 1136

Interest income net 596 1412 1787

Gain on acquisition 680

Other 12 25 78
Other expense income net 178 3140 6246

Provision for income taxes

We recorded Provision for income taxes of $38.9 million $34.0 million and $30.2 million in 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively Changes in the effective tax rate 2011 and 2010 were primarily related to changes in unrealized foreign

currency translation gains losses recognized for book purposes permanently nondeductible expenses recognized for

book purposes and changes in the reserve for contingencies

In 2011 our effective income tax rate was 40.4% as opposed to the Federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to state

income taxes nondeductible expenses and decrease in the reserve for contingencies

In 2010 our effective income tax rate was 39.5% as opposed to the Federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to state

income taxes and an increase in the reserve for contingencies

In 2009 our effective income tax rate was 37.7% as opposed to the Federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the

effects of unrealized currency translation gains recognized for book purposes reduced amount of permanently non

deductible expenses state tax credits and state income taxes

Net deferred tax assets were $36.9 million and $61.6 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively We will need

to generate approximately $92.3 million of future taxable income to realize the net deferred tax assets at December 31

2011

Deferred tax assets related to most accrued expenses and deferred revenues are expected to reverse within one year

Deferred tax assets related to share-based compensation are expected to reverse over four years Deferred tax assets

related to net operating loss carryforwards are expected to reverse over nine years Deferred tax assets related to good

will intangible assets and operating leases are expected to reverse over periods up to sixteen years

Loss from discontinued operations net ofprovision for income taxes

On December 30 2011 we sold substantially all of the assets of Toolbox.com for $2.1 million subject to customary

post-closing working capital adjustment As result we recorded loss from discontinued operations of $4.8 million

$11.7 millionand $4.2 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

In 2011 the loss from discontinued operations was comprised of loss on disposal of $3.5 million and an operating loss

of $3.8 millionnet of the provision for income taxes of $2.5 million

In 2010 the loss from discontinued operations was comprised of an operating loss of $17.7 million including $12.6

million impairment loss net of provision for income taxes of $6.0 million In the third quarter of 2010 based on

combination of factors including the economic environment and the near term outlook for advertising related rev

enues we concluded that goodwill and intangible asset amounts previously recorded for our Toolbox.com reporting

unit were impaired

In 2009 the loss from discontinued operations was comprised of an operating loss of $6.4 millionnet of provision for

income taxes of $2.2 million
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows generated from operating activities have been our primary source of liquidity In addition in March 2011

we entered into $100 million five-year senior unsecured revolving credit facility the Credit Facility with certain

lenders including Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer and JPMorgan

Chase Bank N.A as Syndication Agent The Credit Facility contains letter of credit and swing line loan sub-facilities

and has maturity date of March 16 2016

The Credit Facility is available for working capital and general corporate purposes Under the terms of the Credit

Facility we have the right from time to time to increase the aggregate revolving commitments from $100 million up to

maximum $150 million subject to certain limitations set forth in the Credit Facility We have issued letters of credit

under the Credit Facility in an aggregate amount of $6.4 million at December 31 2011 and have otherwise not borrowed

under the Credit Facility The letters of credit are for security deposits related to certain office leases The letters of

credit expire at various times from January 2012 through September 2012 but will automatically extend for another

year from their expiration dates unless we terminate them To date no amounts have been drawn on these agreements

We had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $143.9 million and $123.5 million at December 31 2011

and 2010 respectively We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities balances and op
erating cash flows will be sufficient to support operations anticipated capital expenditures and the payment of divi

dends as well as potential share repurchases for at least the next 12 months Our future cash flows will depend on

many factors including our rate of Contract Value growth and selective investments to expand our market presence

and enhance technology Also we may make investments in or acquisitions of complementary businesses which could

require us to borrow under the Credit Facility as an additional source of liquidity for permitted acquisitions or seek

additional financing which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all

In December 2011 we sold substantially all of the assets of Toolbox.com for $2.1 million subject to customary post-

closing working capital adjustment Cash flows from continuing operations have been combined with cash flows from

discontinued operations We do not anticipate the sale to materially impact cash flows from operations in future periods

In September 2011 we completed the acquisition of Baumgartner We acquired 100% of the equity interests of

Baumgartner for an initial cash payment of approximately $6.4 million less cash acquired of $1.0 millionWe will be

required to pay up to an additional $1.5 million at various times prior to September 30 2013

In May 2010 we completed the acquisition of Iconoculture We acquired 100% of the equity interests of Iconoculture

for an initial cash payment of $16.2 millionless cash acquired totaling $7.2 millionplus working capital adjustment of

$4.0 million paid in July 2010 We also paid $1.5 million on April 2011 which had been held back by us as security for

any indemnifiable losses under the terms of the acquisition agreement In addition we paid additional consideration of

$2.5 million on April 2011 as final settlement of the additional consideration associated with Iconocultures financial

performance against certain specified targets for the
year

ended December 31 2010

In February 2012 we completed the acquisition of 100% of the stock of Valtera Corporation Valtera an Illinois cor

poration for $23.5 millionless cash acquired The agreement to acquire Valtera is subject to customary post-closing

adjustments for working capital and contains customary representations warranties and covenants

Cash flows from operating activities

Membership subscriptions which principally are annually renewable agreements generally are payable by members

at the beginning of the contract term Historically the combination of revenue growth profitable operations and ad

vance payments of membershipsubscriptions has resulted in net cash flows provided by operating activities Net cash

flows provided by operating activities were $100.3 million $85.1 million and $28.6 million in 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

In 2011 the increase of $15.2 million in cash flows provided by operations was primarily due to higher bookings during

the year collection of cash before recognition of revenue as evidenced by an increase of $34.2 million in deferred

revenues in 2011 net of deferred revenue acquired compared to an increase of $22.4 million in 2010 We also paid $11.1

million less in taxes in 2011 compared to 2010

In 2010 the increase of $56.5 million in cash flows provided by operations was primarily due to higher bookings during

the year collection of cash before recognition of revenue as evidenced by an increase of $22.4 million in deferred
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revenues in 2010 net of deferred revenue acquired compared to decrease of $47.5 million in 2009

We made income tax payments of $28.3 million $39.4 millionand $32.7 million 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively and

expect to continue making tax payments in future periods In 2011 the decrease in income tax payments was primarily

due to the impact of tax deductions associated with the sale of Toolbox.com

Cash flows from investing activities

Our cash management acquisition and capital expenditure strategies affect cash flows from investing activities Net

cash flows used in investing activities were $4.9 million in 2011 In 2010 and 2009 net cash flows provided by investing

activities were $0.1 million and $11.5 millionrespectively

In 2011 we generated $9.8 million from maturities of marketable securities and used $10.2 million for capital expen

ditures primarily on technology infrastructure and new product platforms In addition we utilized $6.2 million for

acquisitions of businesses primarily related to Baumgartner which included an initial payment of $6.4 million less

cash acquired of $1.0 million

In 2010 we generated $22.4 million from maturities of marketable securities and used $8.3 million for capital expendi

tures primarily on technology infrastructure and additional office space buildouts In addition we used $13.0 million

for the Iconoculture acquisition which includes an initial payment of $9.0 millionnet of cash acquired and working

capital payment of $4.0 millionAn additional $1.0 million was utilized for an equity method investment

In 2009 we generated $14.4 million from maturities of marketable securities and $5.2 million from the acquisition of

Tower Group We used $7.1 million for capital expenditures primarily on technology infrastructure and $1.0 million

for cost method investment

In October 2009 we acquired 100% of the equity interests of Tower Group to supplement our existing financial services

products As part of the acquisition we agreed to assume certain obligations that might otherwise have been resolved

prior to consummating the transaction In return the seller agreed to leave assets on the balance sheet to settle those

obligations

We estimate that capital expenditures to support our infrastructure will range from $12.0 to $15.0 million in 2012

Cashflowsfromflnancing activities

Net cash flows used in financing activities were $63.8 million $14.5 million and $24.6 million in 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

In 2011 the $49.3 million increase in cash outflows used in financing was primarily due to repurchase of shares of our

common stock In 2011 we utilized $40.3 million to repurchase 1.3 million shares of our common stock pursuant to

publicly announced plan An additional $3.0 million of the repurchases were the result of employees using common

stock received from the exercise of share-based awards to satisfy the minimum statutory federal and state tax with

holding requirements This compares to $1.2 million used on the repurchases of shares in 2010 In addition we in

creased our quarterly dividend from $0.11 per share in each quarter of 2010 to $0.15 per share in each quarter of 2011

resulting in dividends paid of $20.4 million and $15.1 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively Additionally we utilized

$3.7 million for the acquisition of businesses primarily related to payments in April 2011 of the Iconoculture contingent

consideration and an amount which had been held back for indemnifiable losses under the terms of the acquisition

agreement We also recorded $1.9 million excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation and received $1.7

million from the exercise of share-based awards in 2011

In 2010 the $10.1 million decrease in cash flows used in financing activities was primarily the result of the decrease

in our quarterly dividend in the second quarter of 2009 Our quarterly dividend was $0.44 in the first quarter of 2009

and $0.10 in the second third and fourth quarters of 2009 We increased our dividend to $0.11 in the first quarter of

2010 In addition we repurchased $1.2 million of our shares compared to $0.1 million in 2009 These repurchases were

the result of employees using common stock received from the exercise of share-based awards to satisfy the statutory

minimum federal and state withholding requirements generated from the exercise of such awards

In 2009 dividend payments were $25.2 million and we repurchased approximately five thousand shares of our common

stock for $0.1 million The quarterly dividend was decreased from $0.44 to $0.10 per share in the second quarter of

2009 and increased to $0.11 per share in the first quarter of 2010 Proceeds from the issuance of common stock under

the employee stock purchase plan were $0.7 million
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In February 2012 our Board of Directors declared quarterly dividend of $0.175 per share for the first quarter of 2012

Contractual obligations

The following table summarizes our known contractual obligations at December 31 2011 and the effect such obliga

tions are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods

Payments Due by Period In Thousands at December 31 2011

Total YE 2012 YE 2013 YE 2014 YE 2015 YE 2016 Thereafter

Operating lease obligations 575082 36338 36571 36335 36865 37518 391455

Deferred compensation liability 20026 2361 1335 883 489 870 14088

Purchase commitments 12565 6441 3571 2553

Total 607673 45140 41477 39771 37354 38388 405543

Sublease Receipts by Period In Thousands at December 31 2011

Total YE 2012 YE 2013 YE 2014 YE 2015 YE 2016 Thereafter

Subleases receipts 269819 14003 14310 13883 14954 15328 197841

Operating lease obligations include scheduled rent increases for our headquarters of 1.85% per year through 2017 and

2% per year thereafter Purchase commitments primarily relate to information technology and infrastructure contracts

Not included in the table above are unrecognized tax benefits of $1.1 million

Off-balance sheet arrangements

At December 31 2011 we had no off-balance sheet financing or other arrangements with unconsolidated entities or

financial partnerships such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities established

for purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually narrow or

limited purposes
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business we are exposed to interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks that could

impact our financial position and operating results

Interest rate risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash and cash equivalents and marketable se

curities which is designed for safety of principal and liquidity Cash and cash equivalents are primarily comprised

of cash held in demand deposit accounts at various financial institutions Marketable securities consist primarily of

Washington DC tax exempt bonds We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to cash and

cash equivalents and marketable securities This portfolio is subject to inherent interest rate risk as investments mature

and are reinvested at current market interest rates We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to adjust

our portfolio risk or income profile hypothetical 10% adverse movement in interest rates would not have material

impact on our operating results or cash flows

The following table provides the principal notional amount by expected maturity of our available-for-sale marketable

securities at December 31 2011 dollars in thousands

Pair Value

2012 2013 Thereafter Total 12/31/11

Niarketable securities 3700 6426 10126 10516

Average effective interest rate 4.25% 4.59%

Foreign currency risk

Our international operations subject us to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations Prices for our products are

denominated primarily in US dollars even when sold to members that are located outside the United States Many of

the costs associated with our operations located outside the United States are denominated in local currencies As

consequence increases in local currencies against the US dollar in countries where we have foreign operations would

result in higher operating costs and potentially reduced earnings We use forward contracts designated as cash flow

hedging instruments to protect against foreign currency exchange rate risks inherent with our cost reimbursement

agreement with our UK subsidiary forward contract obligates us to exchange predetermined amount of US dollars

to make an equivalent British Pound payment equal to the value of such exchange The maximum length of time over

which we hedge our exposure to the variability in future cash flows is 12 months

The functional currency of substantially all of our wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries is the US dollar For these foreign

subsidiaries monetary balance sheet and related income statement accounts representing claims receivable or pay
able in fixed number of foreign currency units regardless of changes in exchange rates are re-measured at the cur

rent exchange rate with exchange gains and losses recorded in income Non-monetary balance sheet items and related

income statement accounts which do not result in fixed future cash inflow or outflow of foreign currency units are

re-measured at their historical exchange rates In 2011 we recorded foreign currency translation loss of $0.3 million

and in 2010 we recorded gain of $0.1 millionwhich are included in Other expense income net in the consolidated

statements of income hypothetical 10% adverse movement in British Pounds would result in additional expense of

approximately $4 million
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report including information incorporated into this document by reference contains forward-looking

statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Section 27A of the Securities

Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 All such forward-looking statements are based on

managements beliefs current expectations and information currently available to management These statements are

contained throughout this Annual Report including under the section entitled Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Forward-looking statements frequently contain words such as be
lieves expects anticipates intends plans will estimates forecasts projects and other words of simi

lar meaning One can also identify forward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical

or current facts financial results or financial condition Forward-looking statements include information concerning

our possible or assumed results of operations business strategies financing plans competitive position and potential

growth opportunities

Forward-looking statements involve risks uncertainties and assumptions Actual results may differ materially from

those set forth in the forward-looking statements One must carefully consider any such statement and should under

stand that many factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements Factors that

could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking statements include among others

those discussed in this Annual Report under Critical Accounting Policies and elsewhere in Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Additional uncertainties that could affect future results

include general economic conditions and future financial performance of members and industries One should under

stand that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors Consequently the reader should not consider any such

list to be complete statement of all potential risks or uncertainties All forward-looking statements contained in this

Annual Report are qualified by these cautionary statements and are made only as of the date this Annual Report is filed

We undertake no obligation other than as required by law to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements

whether as result of new information future events or otherwise
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In Thousands Except Per-Share Amounts

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 133429 102498

Marketable securities 3794 10114

Membership fees receivable net 154255 141322

Deferred income taxes net 17844 18727

Deferred incentive compensation 17330 15710

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 21624 10388

Total current assets 348276 298759

Deferred income taxes net 20490 43524

Marketable securities 6722 10850

Property and equipment net 80981 83140

Goodwill 29492 29266

Intangible assets net 13581 13828

Other noncurrent assets 34150 30782

Total assets 533692 510149

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 46067 52439

Accrued incentive compensation 37884 40719

Deferred revenues 284935 251200

Total current liabilities 368886 344358

Deferred income taxes 1436 679

Other liabilities 83806 82296

Total liabilities 454128 427333

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders Equity

Common stock par value $0.01 100000000 shares authorized 43857020 and 43533802 shares issued and

33302495 and 34322055 shares outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively 439 435

Additional paid-in-capital 418318 409558

Retained earnings 332258 300030

Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income 778 1714

Treasury stock at cost 10554525 and 9211747 shares at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively 672229 628921

Total stockholders equity 79564 82816

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 533692 510149

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

In Thousands Except Per-Share Amounts

Revenues 484663 432431 436562

Costs and Expenses

Cost of services 167258 153283 143456

Member relations and marketing 142324 121239 123331

General and administrative 61668 56896 56371

Depreciation and amortization 16928 18039 19533

Costs associated with exit activities 11518

Restructuring costs 8568

Total costs and expenses 388178 349457 362777

Operating profit 96485 82974 73785

Other expense income net 178 3140 6246

Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 96307 86114 80031

Provision for income taxes 38860 34015 30197

Income from continuing operations 57447 52099 49834

Loss from discontinued operations net of provision for income taxes 4792 11736 4205
Net income 52655 40363 45629

Basic earnings loss per share 1.55 1.18 1.34

Continuing operations 1.69 1.52 1.46

Discontinued operations 0.14 0.34 0.12

Diluted earnings loss per share 1.53 1.17 1.33

Continuing operations 1.67 1.51 1.45

Discontinued operations 0.14 0.34 0.12

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 34071 34256 34111

Diluted 34419 34553 34293

Dividends per share 0.60 0.44 0.74

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In Thousands

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 52655 40363 45629

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided by operating activities

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations 3503

Impairment loss 12645

Depreciation and amortization 17710 20462 22991

Deferred income taxes 21211 11628 255
Share-based compensation 8118 7490 10751

Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements 1949 942

Foreign currency translation loss 330

Amortization of marketable securities premiums net 194 357 691

Costs associated with exit activities 11518

Gain on acquisition 680
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Membership fees receivable net 13088 13231 3622

Deferred incentive compensation 1723 5989 2900

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11517 446 91
Other non-current assets 2661 5387 9525

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5464 2792 18533

Accrued incentive compensation 2708 12744 2387

Deferred revenues 34200 22413 47512

Other liabilities 1440 9036 4681

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 100251 85095 28574

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment 10203 8322 7052

Acquisition of businesses net of cash acquired 6193 13957 5173

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations 1779

Cost method investment 150 1000

Maturities of marketable securities 9845 22381 14409

Net cash flows used in provided by investing activities 4922 102 11530

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 1660 436

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan 502 451 725

Acquisition of businesses contingent consideration 3650
Credit facility issuance costs 542
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements 1949 942

Purchase of treasury shares 43308 1237 87
Payment of dividends 20426 15051 25196

Net cash flows used in financing activities 63815 14459 24558

Effect of exchange rates on cash 583

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents 30931 70738 15546

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 102498 31760 16214

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 133429 102498 31760

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Years Ended December 31 20092010 and 2011

In Thousands Except Share Amounts

Accu mutated

Elements
Common Stock

Additional ot Other Annual

PaidHn- Retained Comprehensive Treasury Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Stock Total Income

Balance at December 31 2008

Issuance of common stock upon the

exercise of common stock options

and release of restricted stock units

Issuance of common stock under the

employee stock purchase plan

Share-based compensation

Tax effect of share-based

compensation

Purchase of treasury shares

Change in unrealized gains on

available-for-sale marketable

securities net of tax

Foreign currency hedge

Cumulative translation adjustment

Payment of dividends

Net Income

Balance at December 31 2009

25196

45629

401629 274718

15051

40363

409558 300030

20427

52655

332258

55 627597 22609

725

10751

5280

87 87

195

1341

20

25196

45629

50277

436

451

7490

446

1237 1237

460

109

884

15051

40363

628921 82816

1660

502

8118

1516

43308 43308

245

200

491

20427

_________
52655

79564

195

1341

20

45629

46755

460
109

884

40363

40896

245

200

491

52655

51719

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

34043752 432 395434 254285

59782

48448 724

10751

5280

4974

34147008 433

195

1341

20

1181 627684

Issuance of common stock upon the

exercise of common stock options

and release of restricted stock units 198537 434

Issuance of common stock under the

employee stock purchase plan 21668 451

Share-based compensation 7490

Tax effect of share-based

compensation 446

Purchase of treasury shares 45158

Change in unrealized gains on

available-for-sale marketable

securities net of tax 460

Foreign currency hedge 109

Cumulative translation adjustment 884

Payment of dividends

Net income

Balance at December 31 2010 34322055 435 1714

Issuance of common stock upon the

exercise of common stock options

and release of restricted stock units 231209 1656

Issuance of common stock under the

employee stock purchase plan 16970 502

Share-based compensation 8.118

Tax effect of share-based

compensation 1516

Purchase of treasury shares 1267739

Change in unrealized gains on

available-for-sale marketable

securities net of tax 245

Foreign currency hedge 200

Cumulative translation adjustment 491

Payment of dividends

Net income

Balance at December 31 2011 34302495 439 418318 778 672229
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note Description of Operations

The Corporate Executive Board Company the Company provides essential information by analyzing and dissemi

nating the most successful practices from its global network of members The Company drives corporate performance

through network of executives and business professionals by providing actionable insights analytical tools and ad

visory support to quickly and confidently focus efforts on what executives and their teams need to know and do next

The Company provides its members with the authoritative and timely decision support they need to elevate company

performance and excel in their careers For an annual fee members of each program and service have access to an

integrated set of products and services including best practices studies executive education customized analysis pro

prietary databases and decision support tools The Company also generated advertising and content-related revenues

through its former wholly-owned subsidiary Toolbox.com Inc Toolbox.com We sold substantially all of the assets

of Toolbox.com on December 30 2011

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis ofpresentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries All

intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation The operating results of Toolbox.com

are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented

Use of estimates

The Companys consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with US generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP These accounting principles require the Company to make certain estimates judgments and as

sumptions The Company believes that the estimates judgments and assumptions upon which it relies are reasonable

based on information available to the Company at the time that these estimates judgments and assumptions are made

These estimates judgments and assumptions may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of

the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented To

the extent there are material differences between these estimates judgments or assumptions and actual results the

Companys financial statements will be affected

Foreign currency

The functional currency of substantially all of the Companys wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries is the US dollar For

these foreign subsidiaries monetary balance sheet and related income statement accounts representing claims receiv

able or payable in fixed number of foreign currency units regardless of changes in exchange rates are re-measured

at the current exchange rate with exchange gains and losses recorded in income Non-monetary balance sheet items

and related income statement accounts which do not result in fixed future cash inflow or outflow of foreign currency

units are re-measured at their historical exchange rates In 2011 2010 and 2009 the Company recorded foreign cur

rency translation loss of $0.3 million and foreign currency translation gains of $0.1 million and $1.1 million respec

tively which are included in Other expense income net in the consolidated statements of income

For two of the Companys wholly-owned subsidiaries the functional currency is the local currency For these sub

sidiaries the translation of their foreign currency into US dollars is performed for assets and liabilities using current

foreign currency exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using aver

age foreign currency exchange rates during the period Capital accounts are translated at historical foreign currency

exchange rates Translation gains and losses are included in stockholders equity as component of accumulated other

comprehensive income loss Adjustments that arise from foreign currency exchange rate changes on transactions de

nominated in currency other than the local currency are included in Other expense income net in the consolidated

statements of income
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Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities

The Companys cash and cash equivalents balance is primarily comprised of cash held in demand deposit accounts

at various financial institutions Investments with maturities of more than three months from the date of purchase

are classified as marketable securities The Companys marketable securities consist primarily of Washington DC tax

exempt bonds The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale which are carried at fair value

based on quoted market prices Changes in net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable securities

are excluded from net income and are included within accumulated elements of comprehensive income loss The

specific identification method is used to compute the realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities

Allowance for uncollectible revenue

The Company records an allowance for uncollectible revenue as reduction in revenues based on managements anal

ysis and estimates as to the collectability of membership fees receivable which generally is not the result of members

ability to pay Revenues under membershipagreements are generally recognized ratably over the membership period

typically 12 months Accordingly the allowance for uncollectible revenue is recorded against the amount of revenues

that have been recognized under the contracts that are deemed uncollectible Membership fees receivable that have

not been recognized as revenues are recorded in deferred revenues As part of its analysis the Company examines its

collections history the
age

of the receivables in question any specific member collection issues that it has identified

general market conditions member concentrations and current economic and industry trends Membership fees re

ceivable balances are not collateralized

Property and equipment net

Property and equipment consists of furniture fixtures and equipment leasehold improvements capitalized computer

software and Web site development costs Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation ex

pense Furniture fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives

of the assets which range from three to seven years Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line

method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term Capitalized software and Web site

development costs are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets which

range from three to five years Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred

Goodwill

For acquisitions the Company records any excess purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible

assets acquired as goodwill The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually on October or whenever events

or changes in circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred by comparing its fair value to its carrying value

The Company has concluded that its reporting units used to assess goodwill impairment are the same as its operating

segments Impairment may result from among other things deterioration in the performance of the acquired business

adverse market conditions and variety of other circumstances If it is determined that impairment has occurred the

Company records write-down of the carrying value as an operating expense in the period the determination is made

Although the Company believes goodwill is appropriately stated in its consolidated financial statements changes in

strategy or market conditions could significantly impact these judgments and require an adjustment to the recorded

balance

The determination of the fair value of individual reporting units is based on the average of an income approach dis

counted cash flow method and market approach guideline company method These models require the Company

to make various judgmental estimates and assumptions about sales operating margins growth rates discount factors

and valuation multiples

In 2010 the Company concluded there were impairment indicators relating to its Toolbox.com reporting unit and rec

ognized an impairment loss see Note

Intangible assets net

Intangible assets consist primarily of technology and member relationships These assets are amortized on straight

line basis over estimated useful lives of to 20 years The gross carrying amount of intangible assets was $21.3 million

and $34.4 million and accumulated amortization was $7.7 million and $20.6 million at December 31 2011 and 2010
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respectively Amortization expense was $3.4 million $3.6 millionand $2.6 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

In 2010 the Company recorded $3.1 million impairment loss for Toolbox.com intangible assets see Note The es

timated aggregate amortization expense for each of the succeeding five
years

ended 2012 through 2016 is $4.3 million

$3.8 million$2.6 million$1.5 million and $0.6 millionrespectively

Recovery of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets including intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circum

stances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable The test for recoverability is made using

an estimate of the undiscounted expected future cash flows and if required the impairment loss is measured as the

amount that the carrying value of the asset exceeds the assets fair value if the asset is not recoverable

In 2009 the Company incurred costs associated with exit activities and recorded charge of $11.5 million primarily

related to the impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture fixtures and equipment at its Arlington Virginia

headquarters

Fair value offinancial instruments

The Companys financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents marketable securities member

ship fees receivable investments held through variable insurance products in Rabbi Trust for the Companys deferred

compensation plan forward currency contracts and accounts payable The carrying value of the Companys financial

instruments approximates their fair value

Revenue recognition

The Company generates the majority of its revenues from three primary service offerings executive membershipsper

formance analytics and leadership academies Executive memberships generally contain multiple deliverables which

are determined based on the availability and delivery method of the services and may include on-line best practices

research and insights peer benchmarks decision and diagnostics tools advisory support and live and on-line learning

events Performance analytics deliver data and analytical insight to drive improved performance of executives and their

teams and are accounted for as service revenues Leadership academies generally contain multiple deliverables and

provide access to training and development services that may include skill diagnostic reports learning portal access

classroom-based development sessions Webinars and virtual office hours with faculty

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU
2009-13 Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangements ASU 2009-13 that is effective for revenue arrangements

entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 This guidance eliminates the

residual method under previous guidance and replaces it with the relative selling price method when allocating

revenue in multiple deliverable arrangement The Company adopted ASU 2009-13 prospectively on January 2011

When service offerings include multiple deliverables that qualify as separate units of accounting the Company allo

cates arrangement consideration at the inception of the contract period to all deliverables based on the relative sell

ing price method in accordance with the selling price hierarchy which includes vendor specific objective evidence

VSOE if available third-party evidence TPE if VSOE is not available or best estimate of selling price BESP
if neither VSOE nor TPE is available

VSOE The Company determines VSOE based on established pricing and discounting practices for the specific

service when sold separately In determining VSOE the Company requires that substantial majority of the

selling prices for these services fall within reasonably narrow pricing range The Company limits its assess

ment of VSOE for each element to either the price charged when the same element is sold separately or the

price established by management having the relevant authority to do so for an element not yet sold separately

TPE When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in multiple element arrangements the Company ap

plies judgment with respect to whether it can establish selling price based on TPE TPE is determined based

on competitor prices for similar services when sold separately Generally the Companys services contain sig

nificant level of differentiation such that the comparable pricing of services with similar functionality cannot

be obtained Furthermore the Company is unable to reliably determine what similar competitors selling prices

are for similar services on stand-alone basis As result the Company has not been able to establish selling

price based on TPE
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BESP When unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE the Company uses BESP in its allocation

of arrangement consideration The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which the Company would

transact sale if the product or service were sold on stand-alone basis The Company determines BESP for

deliverables by considering multiple factors including but not limited to prices it charges for similar offerings

market conditions competitive landscape and pricing practices

Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement the fee is fixed and determinable

services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned and collectability is reasonably as

sured Certain fees are billed on an installment basis Customers generally may request refund of their fees which is

provided from the date of the refund request on pro-rata basis relative to the length of the remaining term under the

Companys service guarantee

Executive memberships In general the majority of the deliverables within the Companys memberships are

consistently available throughout the membership period Revenues are generally recognized ratably over the

term of the related agreement which is typically 12 months Membership fees are billable and revenue recog
nition begins when member agrees to the terms of the membership and the fees receivable and the related

deferred revenue are recorded upon the commencement of the agreement or collection of fees if earlier In

some instances membership may include service that is available only once or on limited basis during

the membership period These services are separated from the remainder of the membership and arrangement

consideration is allocated based on VSOE if available or BESR The consideration allocated to services avail

able only once or on limited basis is recognized as revenue upon the earlier of the delivery of the service or the

completion of the contract period provided that all other criteria for recognition have been met The arrange

ment consideration allocated to the remainder of the membership services continues to be recognized ratably

Performance analytics Revenues are generally recognized ratably from the date services begin which is pri

marily after the design of the service outputs through the completion of the services

Leadership academies Revenues are generally recognized as services are completed The service offering gen

erally includes one or more class-room based training or presentation events If more than one delivery date is

evident arrangement consideration is allocated on pro-rata basis and revenue is recognized on the delivery

date of each event

Agreements entered into between January 2011 and December 31 2011 and impacted by ASU 2009-13 have resulted

in lower operating results in 2011 than would have been reported under the previous guidance In 2011 revenues and

income from operations were lower by $3.6 million net income was lower by $2.2 millionand basic and diluted earn

ings per share were lower by $0.06 than what would have been reported under the previous guidance

To lessen the impact of ASU 2009-13 and to better reflect member priorities and value the Company modified certain

memberships to remove or alter services that were available only once or on limited basis during the membership

period These modifications were completed on or about March 31 2011 The modifications allow the Company to rec

ognize revenue for executive memberships ratably over the term of the related agreement for sales on or after April

2011 For memberships that have not been modified the Company has and will continue to allocate arrangement con

sideration to all services For services that are available only once or on limited basis revenues are recognized upon
the earlier of the delivery of the service or the completion of the contract period

Advertising and content related revenues from Toolbox.com are recognized as the services are provided

Deferred incentive compensation

Direct incentive compensation paid to the Companys employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal mem
berships is deferred and amortized over the term of the related memberships

Operating leases

The Company recognizes rent expense under operating leases on straight-line basis over the non-cancelable term

of the lease including free-rent periods Lease incentives relating to allowances provided by landlords are amortized

over the term of the lease as reduction of rent expense The Company recognizes sublease income on straight-line

basis over the term of the sublease including free rent periods and escalations as reduction of rent expense Costs
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associated with acquiring subtenant including broker commissions and tenant allowances are amortized over the

sublease term as reduction of sublease income

Share-based compensation

The Company has several share-based compensation plans These plans provide for the granting of common stock

options stock appreciation rights SARs restricted stock restricted stock units RSUs deferred stock units and

incentive bonuses to employees directors and consultants Share-based compensation expense is measured at the

grant date of the share-based awards based on their fair value and is recognized on straight-line basis over the vesting

periods net of an estimated forfeiture rate

The grant date fair value of RSUs which are not entitled to receive dividends until vested is measured by reducing the

share price at that date by the present value of the dividends expected to be paid during the requisite vesting period

The grant date fair value of SARs is calculated using lattice valuation model Determining the fair value of share-based

awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions including the term of the

share-based awards risk-free interest rates over the vesting period expected dividend rates the price volatility of the

Companys stock and estimated forfeiture rates of the awards Fair value and forfeiture rate estimates are based on as

sumptions the Company believes to be reasonable Actual future results may differ from those estimates

Advertising expense

The costs of designing and preparing advertising material are recognized throughout the production process

Communication costs including magazine and newspaper space radio time and distribution are recognized when the

communication takes place Advertising expense in 2011 2010 and 2009 was $0.6 million$1.5 millionand $0.2 million

respectively

Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting basis

and the tax basis of assets and liabilities These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted

tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such amounts are expected to reverse or be utilized The realization of

deferred tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income valuation allowance is provided to

reduce such deferred tax assets to amounts more likely than not to be ultimately realized

Concentration of credit risk and sources of revenues

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of

membership fees receivable cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities Concentration of credit risk with

respect to membershipfees receivable is limited due to the large number of members and their dispersion across many
different industries and countries worldwide However the Company may be exposed to declining membershipbase

in periods of unforeseen market downturns severe competition or international developments The Company per
forms periodic evaluations of the membershipbase and related membership fees receivable and establishes allowances

for potential credit losses

The Companys international operations subject it to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations Prices for the

Companys products and services are primarily denominated in US dollars even when sold to members that are lo

cated outside the United States however we plan to begin offering foreign currency billing in 2012 to certain members

outside of the United States Many of the costs associated with the Companys operations located outside the United

States are denominated in local currencies The Company uses forward contracts designated as cash flow hedging

instruments to protect against foreign currency exchange rate risks inherent with its cost reimbursement agreement

with its UK subsidiary forward contract obligates the Company to exchange predetermined amount of US dollars

to make an equivalent British Pound payment equal to the value of such exchange The maximum length of time over

which the Company hedges its exposure to the variability in future cash flows is 12 months

The Company maintains portfolio of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities which is designed for

safety of principal and liquidity The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to

cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities
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Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income

Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income included within stockholders equity consist of the following

in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Unrealized gains net of tax for available-for-sale marketable securities 171 416

Unrealized losses gains net of tax for forward currency exchange contracts 140 60

Cumulative translation adjustment 747 1238

Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income 778 1714

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares out

standing during the period Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted

average common shares outstanding during the period increased by the dilutive effect of potential common shares

outstanding during the period The number of potential common shares outstanding has been determined in accor

dance with the treasury stock method to the extent they are dilutive Common share equivalents consist of common

shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding share-based compensation awards reconciliation of basic to diluted

weighted average common shares outstanding is as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 34071 34256 34111

Effect of dilutive shares outstanding 348 297 182

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 34419 34553 34293

In 2011 2010 and 2009 1.82 million2.45 million and 3.15 million shares respectively related to share-based compen

sation awards have been excluded from the calculation of the effect of dilutive shares outstanding shown above because

their impact would be anti-dilutive

Note Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently adopted

In January 2010 the FASB issued new accounting guidance to require additional disclosures about purchases sales

issuances and settlements in the rollforward of Level fair value measurements The adoption of this new accounting

guidance in 2011 did not have material impact on the consolidated financial statements

The Company adopted ASU 2009-13 on January 2011 as discussed above in Note

Not yet adopted

In May 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-04 Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure

Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS The ASU is the result of joint efforts by the FASB and International Accounting

Standards Board to develop single converged fair value framework on how not when to measure fair value and

what disclosures to provide about fair value measurements While the ASU is largely consistent with existing fair value

measurement principles in US GAAP it modifies Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 820 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 to expand existing disclosure requirements for fair value measurements

and makes other amendments This ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15 2011

The Company is in the process of assessing this new guidance but the adoption of this ASU is not expected to have

material impact on the consolidated financial statements

In June 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 Presentation of Comprehensive Income This ASU revises the manner in

which entities present comprehensive income in their financial statements The new guidance removes the presenta

tion options in ASC Topic 220 Comprehensive Income and requires entities to report components of comprehensive

income in either continuous statement of comprehensive income or two separate but consecutive statements
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The ASU does not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income This ASU is effective for

fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15 2011 The adoption of this ASU is not

expected to have material impact on the consolidated financial statements

In September 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment This ASU allows entities to first

assess qualitatively whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test If an entity believes as

result of its qualitative assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its car

rying amount the quantitative two-step goodwill impairment test is required An entity has the unconditional option

to bypass the qualitative assessment and proceed directly to performing the first step of the goodwill impairment test

This ASU is effective for goodwill impairment tests performed in interim and annual periods for fiscal years beginning

after December 15 2011 The Company does not expect this guidance will have material impact on the consolidated

financial statements

Note Acquisitions

On September 30 2011 the Company completed the acquisition of Baumgartner Partner GmbH Baumgartner

German services firm that provides human resources and finance data and benchmarking services as well as human

resources advisory services The Company acquired 100% of the equity interests for an initial cash payment of $6.4 mil

lion less cash acquired of $1.0 million The Company allocated $4.1 million to intangible assets with weighted average

amortization period of years and $3.8 million to goodwill The Company also will be required to pay an additional

$1.5 million less any amounts that the Company is entitled to retain to reimburse it for any losses that are subject to

indemnification by the sellers at various times prior to September 30 2013

In May 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of Iconoculture Inc Minnesota corporation now doing busi

ness as Iconoculture LLC or Iconoculture Iconoculture provides comprehensive consumer insights and effective

strategic marketing advisory services and project support to an established customer base The Company acquired

100% of the equity interests of Iconoculture for an initial cash payment of $16.2 million less cash acquired totaling

$7.2 millionplus working capital adjustment of $4.0 million paid in July 2010 The Company also paid $1.5 million

on April 2011 which had been held back by the Company for any indemnifiable losses under the terms of the ac

quisition agreement In addition the Company paid $2.5 million on April 2011 as final settlement of the additional

consideration associated with Iconocultures financial performance against certain specified targets for the year
ended

December 31 2010 The acquisition date fair value of the total consideration was $24.2 million and was allocated to the

assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values The Company

allocated $9.2 million to intangible assets with weighted average amortization period of 4.5 years and $11.0 million to

goodwill

In October 2009 the Company acquired 100% of the equity interest of The Tower Group Inc Tower Group to

supplement its existing financial services products As part of the acquisition the Company agreed to assume certain

obligations that might otherwise have been resolved prior to consummating the transaction In return the seller agreed

to leave assets on the balance sheet to settle those obligations As result the Company recorded $0.7 million gain

which is included in Other expense income net

On February 2012 the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the stock of Valtera Corporation Valtera
an Illinois corporation for $23.5 million less cash acquired Valtera is global talent management company with

assets including team of organizational psychologists an innovative technology platform an extensive list of Fortune

100 clients and premier customer satisfaction scores The acquisition was completed pursuant to Stock Purchase

Agreement dated February 2012 the Agreement by and among the Company Valtera and the shareholders of

Valtera The Agreement to acquire Valtera is subject to customary post-closing adjustments for working capital and

contains customary representations warranties and covenants

Note Discontinued Operations

On December 30 2011 the Company sold substantially all of the assets of Toolbox.com for $2.1 million subject to

customary post-closing working capital adjustment The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities

sold consisted of in thousands
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December 30 December 31

2011 2010

Accounts receivable 1060 1276

Other current assets 46 74

Property and equipment 100 192

Goodwill 3449 3449

Intangible assets 952 1625

Total assets 5607 6616

Current liabilities 471 675

Net assets sold 5136 5941

The components of discontinued operations included in the consolidated statements of income consisted of in

thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Revenues 5251 6476 6344

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 3202 2486 3562

Member relations and marketing 2115 2651 2692

General and administrative 2930 3975 3045

Depreciation and amortization 782 2423 3458

Impairment loss 12645

Loss on disposal 3503

Loss from discontinued operations before provision for income taxes 7281 17704 6413

Provision for income taxes 2489 5968 2208
Loss from discontinued operations net of provision for income taxes 4792 11736 4205

In the third quarter of 2011 the Company identified indicators of possible impairment relating to the continued weak

ness in the online advertising market We tested the goodwill for impairment and determined that the asset was not

impaired The carrying value of the reporting unit was $5.1 million at September 30 2011

In the third quarter of 2010 the Company concluded there were impairment indicators relating to its Toolbox.com re

porting unit based on combination of factors including the current economic environment and the near term outlook

for advertising related revenue The Company completed an impairment test at September 2010 and concluded that

goodwill and intangible asset amounts were impaired The total pre-tax impairment loss recognized in 2010 was $12.6

million $9.5 million related to goodwill and $3.1 million related to intangible assets

The Company utilized the income approach discounted cash flow method and the market approach guideline com

pany method and the transaction method in the determination of the fair value Significant assumptions included ex

pected revenue growth rates reporting unit profit margins and working capital levels discount rate of 19% and ter

minal value based upon long-term growth assumptions The expected future revenue growth rates and profit margins

were determined after taking into consideration historical revenue growth rates and profit margins the Companys

assessment of future market potential and the Companys expectations of future business performance

Note Fair Value Measurements

Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit

price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date There is three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to

measure fair value This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows

Level 1Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level such as quoted prices for similar

assets and liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that

are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data
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Level 3Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the

fair value of the assets or liabilities This includes certain pricing models discounted cash flow methodologies

and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs

The Company has segregated all assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on recurring basis into the most

appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to determine the fair value at the measure

ment date in the tables below in thousands

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Level Level Level Level Level Level

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 133429 102498

Debt securities issued by the District of Columbia 10516 20964

Investments held through variable insurance

products in Rabbi Trust 13985 14905

Forward currency exchange contracts 34 232

Financial liabilities

Forward currency exchange contracts 334 113

Contingent considerationIconoculture 1900

Investments held through variable insurance products in Rabbi Trust consist of mutual funds available only to insti

tutional investors The fair value of these investments are based on the fair value of the underlying investments held

by the mutual funds allocated to each share of the mutual fund using net asset value approach The fair values of the

underlying investments held by the mutual funds are observable inputs The fair value for foreign currency exchange

contracts are based on bank quotations for similar instruments using models with market-based inputs

The fair value estimate of the Iconoculture contingent consideration was $1.9 million at December 31 2010 In March

2011 the Company increased its estimate of the contingent consideration to $2.5 millionOn April 2011 the Company

paid $2.5 million as final settlement of the additional consideration associated with Iconocultures financial perfor

mance against certain specified targets for the year ended December 31 2010

Certain assets such as goodwill and intangible assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis

that is the assets and liabilities are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjust

ments in certain circumstances e.g when there is impairment The Company recorded fair value adjustments relat

ing to the Toolbox.com impairment in 2010 see Note All such fair value measurements are included in the Level

fair value hierarchy

Note Marketable Securities

The aggregate fair value amortized cost gross unrealized gains and
gross

unrealized losses on available-for-sale mar

ketable securities are as follows in thousands

December 31 2011

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized

Fair Value Amortized Cost Gains Losses

Washington DC tax exempt bonds 10516 10226 290

December 31 2010

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized

Fair Value Amortized Cost Gains Losses

Washington DC tax exempt bonds 20964 20265 699

The following table summarizes marketable securities maturities in thousands

December 31 2011

Fair Value Amortized Cost

Less than one year 3794 3725

Matures in ito years 6722 6501

Marketable securities 10516 10226
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Note Membership Fees Receivable

Membership fees receivable consists of the following in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Billed 109533 106784

Unbilled 45684 36327

155217 143111

Allowance for uncollectible revenue 962 1789

Membership fees receivable net 154255 141322

Furniture fixtures and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Computer software and Web site development costs

47112 47592

80254 77924

29980 24916

157346 150432

76365 67292

80981 83140

Depreciation expense was $13.5 million$14.4 million and $17.0 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

2011 2010

Beginning of year 29266

Goodwill acquired 3773

Foreign currency translation adjustment 98
Discontinued operations 3449
Impairment loss

End of year 29492

Note 11 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following in thousands

Deferred compensation 10894 11215

Lease incentives 29999 31619

Deferred rent benefitlong term 25862 23079

Other 17051 16383

Total other liabilities 83806 82296

Note Property and Equipment Net

Property and equipment consists of the following in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment net

Note 10 Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows in thousands

December 31

27129

11453

205

9521

29266

December 31

2011 2010

Accounts payable 3732 6115

Advanced membership payments received 16220 16149

Other accrued liabilities 26115 30175

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 46067 52439

Note 12 Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consist of the following in thousands

December 31

2011 2010
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Note 13 Revolving Credit Facility

On March 16 2011 the Company together with certain of its subsidiaries acting as guarantors entered into $100

million five-year senior unsecured revolving credit facility the Credit Facility with certain lenders including Bank

of America N.A as Administrative Agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as

Syndication Agent The Credit Facility contains letter of credit and swing line loan sub-facilities and has maturity

date of March 16 2016

The Credit Facility is available for working capital and general corporate purposes Under the terms of the Credit

Facility the Company has the right from time to time to increase the aggregate revolving commitments from $100

million up to maximum $150 million upon at least five business days prior written notice to the Administrative Agent

subject to certain limitations set forth in the Credit Facility including the absence of default under the Credit Facility

The Company has issued letters of credit under the Credit Facility in an aggregate amount of $6.4 million at December

31 2011 and has otherwise not borrowed under the Credit Facility

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at rates based on the ratio of the Companys consolidated indebted

ness to consolidated EBITDA earnings before interest income net depreciation and amortization and provision for

income taxes for applicable periods specified in the Credit Facility the Consolidated Leverage Ratio Such rates

are tied to the highest of the federal funds rate Bank of Americas prime rate and LIBOR or to LIBOR depending on

the type of loan

The Company must pay the Administrative Agent quarterly commitment fee based on the amount by which the ag

gregate revolving commitments exceed the outstanding loans and obligations of the Company under the Credit Facility

Additionally the Company must pay the lenders certain letter of credit fees based on the daily amount available to

be drawn under such letters of credit The commitment fee and letter of credit fees vary based on the Consolidated

Leverage Ratio

The Credit Facility also contains customary financial and other covenants including limitations on the ability of the

Company and its subsidiaries to incur debt or liens or make certain investments and restricted payments require

ment to maintain certain leverage and interest coverage ratios and certain restrictions on the sale of assets and capital

expenditures violation of these covenants could result in the Company being prohibited from making certain re

stricted payments including dividends or cause default under the Credit Facility which would permit the participat

ing lenders to restrict the Companys ability to access the Credit Facility and require the immediate repayment of any

outstanding advances made under it

Note 14 Derivative Instruments and Hedging

The Companys international operations are subject to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations Prices for the

Companys products and services currently are denominated primarily in US dollars including products and services

sold to members that are located outside the United States Many of the costs associated with the Companys operations

located outside the United States are denominated in local currencies As consequence increases in local currencies

against the US dollar in countries where the Company has foreign operations would result in higher effective operating

costs and potentially reduced earnings The Company uses forward contracts designated as cash flow hedging instru

ments to protect against foreign currency exchange rate risks inherent with its cost reimbursement agreements with

its United Kingdom subsidiary forward contract obligates the Company to exchange predetermined amount of US

dollars to make equivalent Pound Sterling GBP payments equal to the value of such exchanges

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk-

management objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions The maximum length of time over which the

Company is hedging its exposure to the variability in future cash flows is 12 months The forward contracts are rec

ognized on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value Changes in the fair value measurements of the derivative in

struments are reflected as adjustments to other comprehensive income OCI and/or current earnings The notional

amount of outstanding forward contracts was $22.8 million at December 31 2011

The fair value of all derivative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments on the Companys consoli

dated balance sheets are as follows in thousands
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December 31

Balance Sheet Location 2011 2010

Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 34 232

Liability

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 334 113

The pre-tax effect of derivative instruments on the Companys consolidated statements of income is shown in the table

below in thousands

Amount of Gain Loss Amount of Gain Loss
Location of Gain Loss Reclassified Reclassified from Accumulated Recognized in CCI
from Accumulated CCI into Income CCI into Income Derivatives in Cash Flow on Derivative

Effective Portion Effective Portion Hedging Relationships Effective Portion

Year Ended December 31 2011 Year Ended December 31 2011

Cost of services 268 Forward currency contracts 268

Member relations and marketing 228

General and administrative 109

Total 605

Amount of Gain Loss Amount of Gain Loss
Location of Gain Loss Reclassified Reclassified from Accumulated Recognized in CCI
from Accumulated CCI into Income CCI into Income Derivatives in Cash Flow on Derivative

Effective Portion Effective Portion Hedging Relationships Effective Portion

Year Ended December 31 2010 Year Ended December 31 2010

Cost of services Forward currency contracts 190

Member relations and marketing

General and administrative 11

Total

The ineffective portion of the cash flow hedges was immaterial

Note 15 Stockholders Equity and Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation

Under share-based compensation plans the Company may grant employees directors and consultants common stock

options SARs and RSUs Stock options are rights to purchase common stock of the Company at the fair market value

on the date of grant SARs are equity settled share-based compensation arrangements whereby the number of shares

of the Companys common stock that will ultimately be issued is based on the appreciation of the Companys common

stock and the number of awards granted to an individual RSUs are equity settled share-based compensation arrange

ments of number of shares of the Companys common stock Holders of stock options and SARs do not participate

in dividends until after the exercise of the award RSU holders do not participate in dividends nor do they have voting

rights until the restrictions lapse

Share-based compensation expense is recognized on straight-line basis net of an estimated forfeiture rate for those

shares expected to vest over the requisite service period of the award which is generally the vesting term of four years

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and adjusted if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ

from those estimates The forfeiture rate is based on historical experience In 2011 the Companys estimated forfeiture

rate was 14% In 2010 the Company decreased its estimated forfeiture rate from 16% to 14%

The Company recognized total share-based compensation costs of $8.1 million $7.5 millionand $10.8 million in 2011

2010 and 2009 respectively These amounts are allocated to Cost of services Member relations and marketing and

General and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income The total income tax benefit for share

based compensation arrangements was $3.2 million$3.0 million and $4.3 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

At December 31 2011 $17.2 million of total estimated unrecognized share-based compensation cost is expected to be

recognized over weighted-average period of approximately years
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Equity incentive plans

The Company issues awards under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan as amended the 2004 Plan and the Directors

Stock Option Plan adopted in 1998 the Directors Plan together the Plans The 2004 Plan provides for the is

suance of up to 6.3 million shares of common stock plus any shares subject to outstanding awards under prior equity

compensation plans up to an aggregate maximum of 9.4 million shares The terms of the awards granted under the

Plans including vesting forfeiture and post termination exercisability are set by the plan administrator subject to cer

tain restrictions The contractual term of equity awards ranges from to 10 years The Company had 2.1 million shares

available for issuance under the Plans at December 31 2011

Restricted stock units

The following table summarizes the changes in RSUs

Stock appreciation rights

2011 2010 2009

The following assumptions were used to value grants of SARs

Risk-free interest rate

Dividend yield

Expected life of option in years

Expected volatility calculated historically

Weighted-average fair value of share-based compensation awards granted

The following table summarizes the changes in SARs

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

4.30%

1.50%

4.8%

42%

11.05

2011 2010 2009

Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted

Restricted Average Grant Restricted Average Grant Restricted Average Grant

Stock Units Date Fair Value Stock Units Date Fair Value Stock Units Date Fair Value

Nonvested beginning of year 832457 19.33 655792 15.17 133196 60.18

Granted 317934 38.27 403310 25.76 665059 10.72

Forfeited 74143 21.49 43536 13.08 81940 19.42

Vested 249766 18.80 183109 20.09 60523 59.60

Nonvested end of year 826482 26.58 832457 19.33 655792 15.17

Number Weighted Number Weighted Number Weighted

of Stock Average of Stock Average of Stock Average

Appreciation Exercise Appreciation Exercise Appreciation Exercise

Rights Price Rights Price Rights Price

Outstanding beginning of year 1289073 63.08 1351698 64.51 1848263 66.16

Granted 60000 30.01

Forfeited 132690 71.76 122625 62.64 496565 70.81

Exercised 38125 40.78

Outstanding end of year 1118258 62.81 1289073 63.08 1351698 64.51

Vested or expected to vest

end of year 1085878 63.62 1136816 64.71 1089856 65.39

Exercisable end of year 958951 66.92 860271 70.73 604176 74.04

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and

the quoted price of our common stock for those awards that have an exercise price currently below the closing price At

December 31 2011 the Company had 15000 vested SARs with an aggregate intrinsic value of $0.1 millionAt December

31 2010 vested SARs outstanding did not have any intrinsic value The total intrinsic value of SARs exercised in 2011

was $0.1 million
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The following table summarizes the characteristics of SARs at December 31 2011

Stock Appreciation Rights Outstanding Stock Appreciation Rights Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Weighted Remaining Weighted Remaining

Range of Average Contractual Life- Average Contractual Life-

Exercise Prices Shares Exercise Price Years Shares Exercise Price Years

$30.01-$45.74 513505 39.89 3.43 354198 40.72 3.22

66.60-76.00 379743 73.21 2.17 379743 73.21 2.17

97.56-97.56 225010 97.56 1.20 225010 97.56 1.20

$30.01-$97.56 1118258 62.81 2.55 958951 66.92 2.33

Stock options

The following table summarizes the changes in stock options

2011 200 200R

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding beginning of year 1122865 53.44 1202717 53.03 1803027 52.75

Granted

Forfeited 381625 47.82 56002 55.83 600310 52.19

Exercised 68375 32.16 23850 27.37

Outstanding end of year 672865 58.79 1122865 53.44 1202717 53.03

Vested or expected to vest

end of year 672865 58.79 1122865 53.44 1202717 53.03

Exercisable end of year 672865 58.79 1122865 53.44 1202717 53.03

At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company had vested stock options outstanding to purchase an aggregate of 124750

and 201375 shares with an aggregate intrinsic value of $0.7 million and $1.1 million respectively The total intrinsic

value of stock options exercised in 2011 2010 and 2009 was $0.5 million$0.1 millionand $0 respectively

The following table summarizes the characteristics of stock options at December 31 2011

Options Outstanding and Exercisable

Weighted Average Remaining

Range of Exercise Prices Shares Weighted Average Exercise Price Contractual Life-Years

$31.00-$36.81 124750 32.36 1.03

45.10-64.30 73240 50.74 1.81

64.88-89.70 474875 66.97 0.26

$31.00-$89.70 672865 58.79 0.57

Share repurchases

In August 2011 the Companys Board of Directors authorized share repurchase of up to an additional $50 million

of the Companys common stock In 2011 the Company repurchased approximately 1.3 million shares of its common

stock at total cost of $40.3 million pursuant to publicly announced plans The remaining repurchase activity in 2011

2010 and 2009 relates to common stock surrendered by employees to satisfy federal and state tax withholding obliga

tions The total remaining authorization pursuant to the Companys stock repurchase program was $28.1 million at

December 31 2011 Repurchases will be made from time to time in open market and privately negotiated transactions

subject to market conditions No minimum number of shares has been fixed The Company has funded and expects to

continue to fund its share repurchases with cash on hand and cash generated from operations
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Dividends

The Company funds its dividend payments with cash on hand and cash generated from operations In February 2012

the Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividend of $0.175 per share The dividend is payable on March 30

2012 to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 152012 In 2011 the Board of Directors declared quar

terly cash dividends of $0.15 per share for each quarter of 2011

Preftrred stock

The Company had 5.0 million shares of preferred stock authorized with par value of $0.01 per share at December 31

2011 and 2010 No shares were issued and outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010

Note 16 Costs Associated with Exit Activities

In June 2009 the Company ceased using and entered into sublease agreement for portion of its headquarters fa

cility Also in 2009 the Company ceased using portion of two other facilities The Company has sublet portion of

one facility and is attempting to sublease portion of the other facility The Company incurred total pre-tax charge

of $11.5 million in 2009 primarily related to the impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture fixtures and

equipment

Note 17 Restructuring Costs

In 2009 as part of the Companys plans to integrate Tower Group the Company initiated workforce reduction plan

Tower Group Plan whereby approximately ten Tower Group employees were offered severance agreements subse

quent to the acquisition Restructuring costs associated with this action were $1.2 million consisting of severance and

related termination benefits

In the second quarter of 2009 the Company committed to separation plan the 2009 Plan initially offering ad

ditional benefits for employees electing to voluntarily separate for which approximately 155 employees submitted res

ignations effective beginning July 24 2009 The 2009 Plan which has concluded is part of the Companys continuing

efforts as previously reported to align its expenses more closely with its outlook and to accelerate the placement of

resources in areas that management believes have greater potential for future growth The 2009 Plan was not offered

to executive officers critical staff and most sales staff of the Company Pre-tax restructuring charges for the 2009 Plan

were originally estimated to be approximately $7.8 million most of which was associated with severance and related

termination benefits

In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company committed to plan the 2008 Plan of workforce reductions to restruc

ture its business The restructuring included reduction of approximately 15% of the Companys workforce at that

time realignment of products and services including consolidation or retirement of certain products to focus on five

corporate decision centers and industries we serve and the implementation of new integrated approach to prospect

and member account management Pre-tax restructuring charges for the 2008 Plan were originally estimated to be ap

proximately $9.3 millionmost of which was associated with severance and related termination benefits The Company

recorded pre-tax restructuring charge of $8.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2008

The Company does not expect to incur any significant additional costs under the 2008 Plan 2009 Plan or Tower

Group Plan

2008 2009 Tower Group
Plan Plan Plan

Balance at December 31 2009 532 2472 1109

Cash payments 498 1843 1109

Change in estimate 34

Balance at December 31 2010 629

Cash payments 129

Change in estimate

Balance at December 31 2011 500
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Note 18 Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

25478

5604

2335

33417

5207

1238

1002

5443

38860

33482

8326

273

42081

4396
3397

273

8066
34015

23193

6061

1295

30549

927

896
383

352

30197

85666

448

86114

76013

4018

80031

35.0% 35.0%

3.8 4.6

0.2 0.3

0.6

0.8 1.0

1.7

39.5% 37.7%

Current tax expense

Federal

State and local

Foreign

Total current

Deferred tax benefit expense

Federal

State and local

Foreign

Total deferred

Provision for income taxes

In 2011 2010 and 2009 the Company made cash payments for income taxes of $28.3 million $39.4 million and $32.7

millionrespectively As result of the sale of Toolbox.com the Company received tax deductions in 2011 lowering cash

payments for income taxes Additionally the disposition resulted in prepaid income taxes of $11.6 million at December

31 2011 which is expected to lower our cash payments for income taxes in 2012 Approximately $15.4 million of de

ferred tax assets were converted to current tax benefits in 2011 The disposed deferred tax assets consisted largely of

tax basis goodwill and other intangible assets

The components of Income before provision for income taxes were as follows

Year Ended December 31

US sources 94459

Non-US sources 1848
__________ __________

Total 96307
__________ __________

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the US federal income

tax statutory rate to income before provision for income taxes as follows

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Statutory US federal income tax rate

State income taxes net of federal benefit

Foreign income tax

Foreign currency loss

Permanent differences and other net

Reserve for tax contingencies

Effective tax rate

2011 2010 2009

35.0%

4.8

0.2

0.2

1.4

0.8

40.4%
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities consist of the

following in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Deferred tax assets

Share-based compensation 12564 14700

Goodwill and intangibles 14736

Accrued incentive compensation 13404 14403

Accruals and reserves 1077 1204

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 13231 14598

Deferred compensation plan 4771 3493

Deferred revenues 2828 2398

Operating leases and lease incentives 11473 13012

Other 1225 922

Total deferred tax assets 60573 79466

Valuation allowance 7886 7493

Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance 52687 71973

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred incentive compensation 6866 5853

Depreciation 5565 1636

Goodwill and intangibles 3110

Other 248 2912

Total deferred tax liabilities 15789 10401

Deferred tax assets net 36898 61572

In estimating future tax consequences Accounting Standards Codification 740 Income Taxes generally considers

all expected future events in the determination and valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities The valuation al

lowance at December 31 2011 and 2010 was primarily related to state tax credit carr yforwards from the District of

Columbia described below The net change in the valuation allowance was an increase of $0.4 million and decrease of

$1.6 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively

The Company has approximately $11.9 million of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards available as result

of the acquisition of Iconoculture These carryforwards will be available to offset future income through 2031 The

Company generated net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of $2.5 million and $1.9 million in

2010 and 2009 respectively which are available to offset future state taxable income through 2030 The use of these net

operating loss carryforwards may be limited

Upon moving its headquarters to Arlington Virginia the Company became eligible to receive the Major Business

Facilities Job Tax Credit JTC The JTC measured in 2009 was $1.0 million based on the number of full-time jobs

that were created or relocated to Virginia This credit was applied against Virginia state income taxes in 2009 and 2010

Virginia law requires this credit to be recaptured and refunded to the extent average levels of employment decrease

during the five years following the measurement of the credit The Company has estimated $0.1 million $0.1 million

and $0.3 million of this credit will be recaptured at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively and valuation al

lowance has been recorded in this amount against the tax credit carryforward

The Company has Washington DC tax credit carryforwards resulting in deferred tax asset of $7.2 million and $7.4

million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively These credits expire in years 2015 through 2018 The Company

recorded $7.2 million and $7.4 million valuation allowance related to these credit carryforwards at December 31 2011

and 2010 respectively

Undistributed earnings of the Companys foreign subsidiaries amounted to $23.5 million $18.2 millionand $15.2 mil

lion at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Those earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested

accordingly no provision for US federal and state income taxes has been provided thereon Upon repatriation of those

earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise the Company would be subject to both US income taxes subject to an

adjustment for foreign tax credits and withholding taxes payable to the various foreign countries Determination of

the amount of unrecognized deferred US income tax liability is not practicable due to the complexities associated with
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its hypothetical calculation however unrecognized foreign tax credit carryforwards would be available to reduce some

portion of the US liability

reconciliation of the beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefit is as follows in thousands

December 31

2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of the year 2563 592 427

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 24 79 32

Additions for tax positions of prior years 210 1912 177

Reductions for tax positions of prior years

Reductions for lapse of statute of limitations 1665 20 44
Settlements

Balance at end of the year 1132 2563 592

The Company files income tax returns in US federal state and foreign jurisdictions With few exceptions the Company

is no longer subject to tax examinations in major tax jurisdictions for periods prior to 2008 The Companys unrecog

nized tax benefit liability would affect the Companys effective tax rate if recognized except for $0.4 million $1.2 mil

lion and $0.2 million of tax credits that would be available to offset this liability at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively Interest and penalties recognized related to uncertain tax positions amounted to $0.2 million $0.5 mil

lion and $0.2 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Total accrued interest and penalties at December 31 2011

and 2010 was $0.7 million and $0.9 millionrespectively and was included in accrued expenses The Company elects to

classify accrued interest and penalties related to the unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax provision

Note 19 Employee Benefit Plans

Defined contribution 401k plan

The Company sponsors defined contribution 401k plan the Plan Pursuant to the Plan all employees who have

reached the age of 21 are eligible to participate The Company provides discretionary contribution equal to 50% of an

employees contribution up to maximum of 6% of base salary The Companys matching contribution is subject to

four-year vesting schedule of 25% per year beginning one year from the employees date of hire and an employee must

be employed by the Company on the last day of Plan year in order to vest in the Companys contribution for that year

Company contributions to the Plan were $3.8 million $2.9 millionand $3.1 million in 20112010 and 2009 respectively

Employee stock purchase plan

The Company sponsors an employee stock purchase plan the ESPP for all eligible employees Under the ESP
employees authorize payroll deductions from 1% to 10% of their eligible compensation to purchase shares of the

Companys common stock The total shares of the Companys common stock authorized for issuance under the ESPP

is 1050000 Under the plan shares of the Companys common stock may be purchased over an offering period typi

cally three months at 85% of the lower of the fair market value on the first or last day of the applicable offering period

In 2011 2010 and 2009 the Company issued 16970 shares 21668 shares and 48448 shares of common stock respec

tively under the ESPP At December 31 2011 approximately 733000 shares were available for issuance

Deft rred compensation plan

The Company has Deferred Compensation Plan the Deferred Compensation Plan for certain employees and

members of the Board of Directors to provide an opportunity to defer compensation on pre-tax basis The Deferred

Compensation Plan provides for deferred amounts to be credited with investment returns based on investment op
tions selected by participants from alternatives designated from time to time by the plan administrative committee

The Company invests funds sufficient to pay the deferred compensation liabilities in mutual fund investments through

insurance contracts in Rabbi Trust to match the investment options made by participants These investments are

considered trading securities carried at fair value and included in Other assets on the consolidated balance sheets

Losses earnings associated with the Deferred Compensation Plans assets were $0.5 million $1.7 million and $2.7

million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively and are included in Other income net while offsetting changes in indi

vidual participant account balances are recorded as compensation expense in the consolidated statements of income
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The Deferred Compensation Plan also allows the Company to make discretionary contributions at any time based on

individual or overall Company performance which may be subject to different vesting schedule than elective defer

rals and provides that the Company will make up any 401k plan match that is not credited to the participants 401k

account due to his or her participation in the Deferred Compensation Plan The Company did not make any discretion

ary contributions to the Deferred Compensation Plan in 20112010 and 2009

Note 20 Commitments and Contingencies

Operating leases

The Company leases office facilities that expire on various dates through 2028 Generally the leases
carry

renewal pro

visions and rental escalations and require the Company to pay executory costs such as taxes and insurance

In May 2010 the Company amended and restated the sublease agreement entered into in June 2009 with third party

to exercise the extension clause contained in the original sublease from October 2021 through January 2028 which ter

minates with the Companys existing lease in January 2028 The Company also sublet additional space from November

2011 through January 2028 and from October 2014 through January 2028 The amended and restated sublease also

contains an expansion option for additional square footage which may be exercised at the subtenants discretion from

October 2014 through January 2028 The subtenant will be required to pay its pro rata portion of any increases in build

ing operating expenses and real estate taxes

Future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases and future minimum receipts under sub-

leases excluding executory costs are as follows at December 31 2011

Payments Due and Sublease Receipts by Period In Thousands at December 31 2011

Total YE 2012 YE 2013 YE 2014 YE 2015 YE 2016 Thereafter

Operating lease obligations 575082 36338 36571 36335 36865 37518 391455

Subleases receipts 269819 14003 14310 13383 14954 15328 197841

Total net lease obligations 305263 22335 22261 22952 21911 22190 193614

Rent expense net of sublease income was $22.2 million $25.2 million and $30.2 million in 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

Other

At December 31 2011 the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $7.2 million to provide security deposits

for certain office space leases The letters of credit expire in the period from January 2012 through September 2012 but

will automatically extend for another year from their expiration dates unless the Company terminates them To date

no amounts have been drawn on these agreements

From time to time the Company is subject to litigation related to normal business operations The Company vigorously

defends itself in litigation and is not currently party to and the Companys property is not subject to any legal pro

ceedings likely to materially affect the Companys operating results

The Company continues to evaluate potential tax exposure relating to sales and use payroll income and property tax

laws and regulations for various states in which the Company sells or supports its goods and services Accruals for

potential contingencies are recorded by the Company when it is probable that liability has been incurred and the

liability can be reasonably estimated As additional information becomes available changes in the estimates of the li

ability are reported in the period that those changes occur The Company accrued liability of $3.0 million at December

31 2011 and 2010 relating to certain sales and use tax regulations for states in which the Company sells or supports its

goods and services

Note 21 Segments and Geographic Areas

Operating segments are components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and regu

larlyevaluated by the chief operating decision maker of an enterprise Operating results for certain operating segments

do not meet the quantitative thresholds individually or in the aggregate for separate disclosure thus the Company has

one reportable segment
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The Company has net sales and long-lived assets consisting of property plant and equipment goodwill and intangible

assets net of accumulated depreciation and amortization in the following geographic areas in thousands

United States Europe Other Countries Total

2011

Revenues 326864 71916 85883 484663

Long-lived assets 102550 13424 8080 124054

2010

Revenues 290905 69755 71771 432431

Long-lived assets 112366 4876 8992 126234

2009

Revenues 287650 77573 71339 436562

Long-lived assets 112932 5843 10062 128837

Excludes Toolbox.com revenues of $5.3 million $6.5 million and $6.3 million in 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

classified as discontinued operations

Note 22 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

Unaudited summarized quarterly financial data is as follows in thousands except per-share amounts

2011 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December

Revenues 113623 117482 121607 131951

Total costs and expenses 94746 98774 96096 98562

Operating profit 18877 18708 25511 33389

Income from continuing operations before provision for

income taxes 20382 19031 22967 33928

Income from continuing operations 12060 10956 14558 19873

Loss from discontinued operations net of provision for

income taxes 706 612 552 2923

Net income 11354 10344 14006 16950

Basic earnings loss per share 0.33 0.30 0.41 0.51

Continuing operations 0.35 0.32 0.43 0.60

Discontinued operations 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.09

Diluted earnings loss per share 0.33 0.30 0.41 0.50

Continuing operations 0.35 0.31 0.42 0.59

Discontinued operations 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.09

2010 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December

Revenues 98365 107942 110646 115479

Total costs and expenses 76727 86688 88610 97432

Operating profit 21638 21254 22036 18047

Income from continuing operations before provision for

income taxes 21180 20465 25161 19309

Income from continuing operations 12536 12015 16080 11469

Loss from discontinued operations net of provision for

income taxes 903 1035 9091 708

Net income 11633 10980 6989 10761

Basic earnings loss per share 0.34 0.32 0.20 0.31

Continuing operations 0.37 0.35 0.47 0.33

Discontinued operations 0.03 0.03 0.27 0.02

Diluted earnings loss per share 0.34 0.32 0.20 0.31

Continuing operations 0.36 0.35 0.47 0.33

Discontinued operations 0.03 0.03 0.26 0.02
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENTS ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements appearing in our

Annual Report The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles gener

ally accepted in the United States and include amounts based on managements estimates and judgments

Management also is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial report

ing Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2011 based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based upon the evaluation under this framework

management concluded with reasonable assurance that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as

of December 31 2011

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected

in our Code of Conduct for Officers Directors and Employees It sets the tone of our organization and includes factors

such as integrity and ethical values Our internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies and

procedures that are reviewed modified and improved as changes occur in business conditions and operations

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors which is comprised solely of outside directors meets periodically with

members of management and the independent auditors to review and discuss internal control over financial report

ing and accounting and financial reporting matters The independent registered public accounting firm reports to the

Audit Committee and accordingly has full and free access to the Audit Committee at any time

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

Ernst Young LLP the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our financial statements included

in this Annual Report has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial re

porting as of December 31 2011

Thomas Monahan III Richard Lindahl

ChiefExecutive Officer ChiefFinancial Officer

February 292012 February 29 2012
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REPORT OF ERNST YOUNG LLP INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

The Corporate Executive Board Company

We have audited The Corporate Executive Board Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria The Corporate Executive Board Companys man

agement is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Report of Managements

Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys

internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether ef

fective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing

and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing

such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reason

able basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transac

tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with au

thorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention

or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material

effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

In our opinion The Corporate Executive Board Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries as of December

31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income shareholders equity and cash flows for each of

the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries

and our report dated February 29 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

4s7LLP

Baltimore Maryland

February 29 2012
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REPORT OF ERNST YOUNG LLP INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM ON THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

The Corporate Executive Board Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company and sub

sidiaries as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income shareholders equity

and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31 2011 These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence support

ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation

We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated fi

nancial position of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries at December 31 2011 and 2Q10 and the

consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December

31 2011 in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States The Corporate Executive Board Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011

based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commissionand our report dated February 29 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion

thereon

4444

Baltimore Maryland

February 292012
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Stock Sales Prices per Share

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per share of our

common stock

2011 HIGH LOW DIVIDENDS

First Quarter 41.56 35.97 0.15

Second Quarter 45.24 37.73 0.15

Third Quarter 45.79 28.08 0.15

Fourth Quarter 39.78 27.90 0.15

2010

First Quarter 28.65 19.58 0.11

Second Quarter 33.50 26.17 0.11

Third Quarter 3349 24.94 0.11

Fourth Quarter 39.22 2966 0.11

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Companys common stock for the past

five years through December 31 2011 with the cumulative total return on the SP North American Technology

Services Index formerly the GSTI Services Index and before that the Goldman Sachs Services Index the

NASDAQ Global Select Market Composite Index formerly the NASDAQ National Market Composite Index
and the NYSE Composite Index for the same period The Company transferred the listing of its common stock

from NASDAQ Stock Market LLC to the New York Stock Exchange in August 2010 The graph assumes that

$100 was invested in the Companys common stock and in each of the other indexes on December 31 2006 and

that any dividends were reinvested The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are

not intended to forecast the possible future performance of the Companys common stock

$160 The Corporate Execuhve Board Company

SP North Amencan Technology Services Index1

$120 NASDAQ Global Select Market Composite Index

NYSE Compete Index

12/31/2006 12/31/2008 12/31/2010

12/31/2007 12/31/2009 12/31/2011

In February 2007 the Goldman Sachs Services Index index identifier GSV which CEB has presented in this stock performance graph in 2006 and prior years wax

acquired by Standard and Poors from the Goldman Sachs Group The index was listed as the SP GSTI Services Index from February 2007 until March 2008 when

Standard and Poors renamed the indes the SP North American Technology Services Index index identifier SPGSTISV

companies included in the SP North American Technology Services Index as of December 3t 2011 were Accenture plc Acxiom corporation Alliance Data Systems

corporation Automatic Data Processing Inc Broadridge Financial Solutions Inc CACI International Inc cognizant Technology Solutions corp computer Sciences

corp Convergys corp coreLogic Inc DST Systems Inc Euronet Worldwide Inc Fidelity National Information Services Inc Fiserv Inc Gartner Inc Genpact Limited

Global Payments Inc Jack Henry Associates Inc iGATE corporation International Business Machines Corporation Lender Processing Services Inc MAXIMUS Inc

ManTech International corporation Mastercard Incorporated Neustar Inc Paychex Inc SAIC Inc SRA International Inc Sapient corporation Syntel Inc TeleTech

Holdings Inc Teradata corporation Total System Services Inc Unisys corporation VeriFone Systems Inc Visa Inc The Western Union company and Wright Express
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Executive Officers and Directors

As of 27 April 2012

Thomas Monahan III Gregor Bailar Nancy Karch

Chairman and Chief Executive Director Former Chief Information Director Director Emeritus

Officer Officer Capital One Financial McKinsey Company

Corporation

Melody Jones Daniel Leemon

Chief Administrative Officer Stephen Carter Director Retired Executive Vice

Director Chief Executive Officer President and Chief Strategy Officer

Richard Lindahi
and President Superior Essex Inc Charles Schwab Corporation

Chief Financial Officer

Gordon Coburn Jeffrey Tarr

Stephen Meyer
Director President Cognizant Director Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Commercial Officer and
Technology Solutions Corporation President DigitaiGlobe Inc

General Manager

Kevin Cox

Director Executive Vice President

of Human Resources American

Express Company

Corporate Information

Form 10-K/Investor Contact

copy
of the Companys 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K without exhibits is available from the Company at no

charge Requests for the Annual Report on Form 10-K and other investor contacts should be directed to Richard

Lindahl Chief Financial Officer at the Companys corporate office

Common Stock and Dividend Information

The common stock of The Corporate Executive Board Company is traded on the NYSE under the symbol EXBD Prior

to August 2010 our common stock was traded on the NASDAQ under the symbol EXBD since the initial public offering

on 23 February 1999 As of 30 March 2012 there were approximately 10200 holders of the common stock including 42

stockholders of record The Company has paid quarterly cash dividends on its common stock since 2004

Corporate Office Registrar and Transfer Agent Independent Auditors

The Corporate Executive Board Company Computershare Ernst Young LLP

1919 North Lynn Street 480 Washington Boulevard Baltimore MD

Arlington VA 22209 Jersey City NJ 073 10-1900

1-571-303-3000 1-800-851-9677
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